
Agenda compiled by:
H Gray
Governance Services
Telephone: 37 88657

Head of Strategic Planning:
David Feeney
Tel: 0113 3787660

Produced on Recycled Paper
A

DEVELOPMENT PLAN PANEL

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on
Tuesday, 9th May, 2017

at 1.30 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors

F Venner (Chair)

M Coulson

C Gruen

R Lewis

J McKenna

K Wakefield

N Walshaw

C Campbell B Anderson

J Procter

T Leadley

Public Document Pack



B

A G E N D A

Item
No

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and 
public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting)

2  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which 
officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the 
officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information.

3 If so, to formally pass the following 
resolution:-

RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:



C

3  LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 

(The special circumstance shall be specified in the 
minutes).

4  DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct

5  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

6  MINUTES

To agree the minutes of the previous meeting held 
7th March 2017 as a correct record.

1 - 6

7  HOUSING WHITE PAPER - DEPARTMENT OF 
COMMUNITIES & LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(DCLG)

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development on the Council’s substantive 
response to the Department for Communities and 
Local Government Housing White Paper – “Fixing 
our broken housing market”. Executive Board 
considered the matter on 19th April 2017 and the 
Council’s response was sent to DCLG by the 
required deadline. This report provides the Panel 
with the opportunity to consider the response and 
make additional supplementary comments.
 

7 - 66

Item
No

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No



D

8  LEEDS LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 2017 
UPDATE

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development seeking consideration of proposed 
updates to the Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
May 2017 prior to the revised Scheme being 
published on the Council’s website. 

67 - 
90

9  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

To be confirmed.

Third Party Recording 

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not 
present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take 
place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those 
proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is available 
from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by 
a statement of when and where the recording was 
made, the context of the discussion that took place, 
and a clear identification of the main speakers and 
their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording 
in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or 
misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments 
made by attendees.  In particular there should be no 
internal editing of published extracts; recordings may 
start at any point and end at any point but the 
material between those points must be complete.

Item
No

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 11th April, 2017 
 

Development Plan Panel 
 

Tuesday, 7th March, 2017 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor F Venner in the Chair 

 Councillors B Anderson, C Campbell, 
T Leadley, R Lewis, J McKenna, 
S McKenna, K Ritchie and N Walshaw 

 
 
58 Appeals against refusal of inspection of documents.  
There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents. 
 
59 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
The agenda contained no exempt information. 
 
60 Late Items  
No formal late items of business were added to the agenda. 
 
61 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made. 
 
62 Apologies for Absence  
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor M Coulson, C Gruen, J Procter 
and K Wakefield. Councillors S McKenna and K Ritchie attended the meeting as 
substitutes. 
 
63 Minutes  
RESOLVED- That the minutes of the Development Plan Panel meeting held on 10th 
January 2017 be approved, subject to the following amendments: 
Minute 55 Site Allocations Plan – delete reference to Councillor Anderson 
withdrawing from the meeting 
 
64 Affordable Housing Benchmarks Update  
The Panel considered the report of the Director of City Development which sought 
Members’ views on proposals to update Leeds’ Affordable Housing benchmark 
prices. This matter had previously been withdrawn from the meeting held on 27th 
September 2016 (minute 34 refers). 
 
The report explained that an updated methodology for setting new benchmarks 
would accord with Policy H5 of the Leeds Core Strategy which had been adopted in 
2014 and superseded previous UDP policies. Policy H5 sets the principle that new 
Affordable Housing in Leeds should be made affordable enough for households on 
lower decile (social rent) and lower quartile (sub-market/intermediate) earnings. The 
benchmark figures set the price that housing developers sell affordable dwellings to 
Registered Providers (RPs).  Using the same income data, benchmarks also set the 
rent for affordable dwellings within Build-for-Rent developments. 
 
The Planning Strategy Team Leader highlighted the key changes as being: 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 11th April, 2017 
 

 A proposed increase to the lower decile benchmark 
 A proposed decrease to the lower quartile benchmark 
 The inclusion of the earnings of part-time workers within the lower decile 

methodology 
Overall however, the changes would not alter the amount paid by Registered 
Providers for the Affordable Housing element of schemes. 
 
The Planning Strategy Team Leader noted that previously, the benchmark figures 
had been updated annually by the Chief Planning Officer using a methodology 
devised in the early 2000’s. Given the change in approach following the adoption 
Core Strategy, it was considered appropriate to obtain the views from Development 
Plan Panel. 
 
The Panel discussed the following matters: 

 Concerns that developers did not want to provide Affordable Housing on site 
and would rather offer a commuted sum. 

 Anticipation that commuted sum costs would rise as they took into account 
rental costs which had increased. Construction costs had also increased. 
Open market values had increased, so the difference between the open 
market value and the affordable housing value would be included within 
commuted sum calculations. 

 Whether the 1100 annual target had been met. 
 Whether it was feasible in the circumstances where the authority was asked 

to set aside its policy requiring affordable housing on site, to charge a 
premium affordable housing rate, to cover administration costs, to those 
developers who only offered commuted sums for affordable housing. The 
Panel received advice from the Chief Legal Officer setting out the 
circumstances where a commuted sum could be considered and clarifying 
that there was no provision to uplift that sum. After further discussion, it was 
agreed that this issue would be further discussed as part of the Selective 
Review of the Core Strategy 

 Concern that there was little affordable housing in some of Leeds’ outlying 
towns and villages, which prevented younger people entering the housing 
market in their own home towns 

 The technical definition of “Affordable Housing” - Government White Paper 
proposals set the income for  “Starter Homes” as £80,000 or £90,000 in 
London – was not affordable to normal wage earners when mortgage lending 
terms offered by a bank or building society are set at 2½ or 3 times salary 

 
The Chief Planning Officer gave assurance that the revised methodology was sound. 
Additionally he reassured Members that there was sufficient flexibility in the system, 
if, during the transition phase, the new methodology was found to cause an issue for 
developments already being constructed. 
 
The Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning indicated that a 
report on the development of mixed residential communities was due to be 
considered by the Council’s Executive Board on 22nd March 2017 with a view to 
developing a policy approach. 
 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 11th April, 2017 
 

The Chief Planning Officer indicated that the Core Strategy Review process, 
informed by a new SHMA, would look at future target setting; and work would be 
undertaken at a local level to assist in the development of a broad view on need for 
the whole city. Panel noted the debate revealed the current tensions in the housing 
market and the comment that a full review of the housing market strategy was 
needed. A comment that the 5% city centre Affordable Housing target required 
review in due course was also noted. 
 
RESOLVED – To note the contents of the report and the comments made during 
discussions 
 
65 Hot Food Takeaway Supplementary Planning Document  
Further to minute 33 of the meeting held 27th September 2016, the Panel considered 
a report seeking endorsement for a public consultation to be undertaken on a Draft 
Hot Food Takeaway (HFT) Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). Following a 
White Paper Motion to full Council in June 2016 the Panel had considered the issue 
and resolved that the preparation of a draft SPD could address links between health 
issues and planning policy. The draft SPD sought to control HFT proposals, 
particularly from the perspective of improving the health and wellbeing of Leeds’ 
population. A copy of the draft SPD was attached as Appendix 1 to the report and 
included site plans showing every secondary school in Leeds, with a 400m boundary 
from the centre of the school premises. 
 
The Planning Assistant (Project Support) explained that the draft SPD had been 
prepared in consultation with Licensing, Public Health, Environmental and 
Development Management officers. After the proposed 6 week public consultation; 
the draft SPD would be revised accordingly and be brought back to DPP before 
being approved for adoption. The draft SPD would form part of Leeds’ Local Plan 
and carry weight when future planning applications and H5 applications are 
determined. 
 
Councillor Leadley briefly presented the three key issues for discussion as being: 
HFT1 - the proposed guidance to control HFT proximity to schools – where he 
expressed a preference to extend the 400m boundary extend from the school 
perimeter rather than the centre of the building 
HFT2 - clustering in designated centres – where he promoted discussion in respect 
of those areas which already saw a proliferation of HFT; whether there was scope to 
introduce neighbourhood policies with neighbourhood definitions for HFT and 
whether the Panel could consider discretionary measures such as one HFT per 
100,000 population. He also referred to public health concerns, noting that some 
communities were more affected by the harm linked to HFT than others. 
HFT3 - to address amenity concerns  
 
Additionally the Panel was asked to consider whether it would be beneficial to 
include a caveat for HFT2 in order to allow an A5 use after a certain amount of unit 
vacancy. Councillor Leadley also referred to previous discussions on the status of 
drive-thru take aways and suggested this needed further discussion to understand 
what planning use class these fall within. 
 
Members and Officers discussed the following: 

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 11th April, 2017 
 

HFT1 Drawing a zone of restriction: 
- Members considered whether it would be preferable to implement a 500m 

“exclusion zone” and noted the response that 400m was the accepted 
accessibility standard as the anticipated distance covered during a ten minute 
walk- the aim being to control HFT within a ten minute walk from a secondary 
school.  

- Whether the zone should be calculated from the centre of the school building, 
from the perimeter of the school grounds or from every access point (school 
gates), noting the approach adopted at Gateshead and Newcastle planning 
authorities. 

- The issue of whether the SPD would apply to land earmarked for school 
development would be given further consideration, although it was felt the 
school would have to be constructed for the SPD to have effect. 

 
HFT2 Clustering: 

- Most HFT are located in local centres, town centres or neighbourhood 
parades. 

- HFT can blight shopping parades and discourage new business start-ups 
- Concern the SPD did not address or reflect those A3 restaurants which also 

operated as HFT. It was noted that this should be an enforcement matter and 
there was support for the SPD to contain information on how operating 
without consent would be tackled. 

 
HFT2 Vacancy Caveat – Members did not support the inclusion of the proposed 
caveat. 
 
HFT3 Amenity concerns 

- Comments about control of littering, bins and waste were also noted. It was 
agreed that the links between this SPD and the relevant town centre policies 
would be given greater attention. 

 
Noting the comments and queries raised by Members, officers agreed to undertake 
further work with LCC Children’s Services and Public Health Team in order to report 
back to Panel Members via email in the first instance with options for their 
consideration. In order to progress the SPD, the consultation responses from Panel 
Members will be considered by the Chief Planning Officer in consultation with the 
Chair in order to determine the proposals to be included within the consultation draft. 
RESOLVED  

a) To note the comments made during discussion and to note that officers will 
make the minor amendments to the draft SPD prior to the start of the 
consultation period. 

b) To note that officers will further consider the proposed 400m perimeter and 
will present options for Panel Members to consider via email. The matter of 
the boundary distance and secondary school will be determined by the Chief 
Planning Officer in consultation with the Chair, taking into account Members’ 
views.  

c) To note that Panel did not support the proposal for policy HFT2 to include a 
caveat allowing an A5 use after a certain term of unit vacancy. 

d) To endorse the undertaking of public consultation on the Draft Hot Food 
Takeaway Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), once amended. 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 11th April, 2017 
 

 
66 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
RESOLVED – To note the date and time of the next meeting as 11th April 2017 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of Director of City Development 

Report to Development Plan Panel 

Date: 9th May 2017 

Subject: Housing White Paper – Department of Communities & Local Government 
(DCLG) 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The Government’s Housing White Paper (HWP), entitled - ‘Fixing our broken housing 
market’, together with background papers and technical information, was issued by 
the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) on 7th February.  
The material is wide ranging in scope and sets out a series of reforms that the 
Government plans to introduce, to help change the housing market and increase the 
supply of new homes (1 million new homes by 2020).  The overarching emphasis of 
the Paper is the “need to build many more houses of the type people want to live in, 
in the places they want to live” and in order to achieve this, the White Paper seeks to 
take a comprehensive approach that “tackles failure at every point in the system”. 

2. Alongside the HWP, DCLG has also published a number of related consultation and 
technical documents.  These are: Planning & affordable homes to rent consultation, 
National Planning Policy: consultation on proposed changes, Response to the starter 
homes technical consultation, Summary of responses to the technical consultation on 
implementation of planning changes, Consultation on upward extension (in London) 
and Rural Planning Review call for evidence, Report of the Local Plans Expert 
Group: government response to the CLG Select Committee Inquiry, Community 
Infrastructure Levy Review and Three Dragons & University of Reading Research 
Report.  Not all of this material is directly applicable to Leeds, but where key issues 
have been raised (in particular the proposed revisions to the Community 
Infrastructure Levy) which have implications for the City Council, the response has 
been included in Appendix 2 to the Executive Board report.  A covering letter to the 

 

Report authors:   
David Feeney  0113 3787660, 
Martin Elliot  0113 3787634 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Secretary of State, in response to the consultation has also been included in 
Appendix 3 of the Executive Board report. 

3. Due to timescales to respond to the consultation and the timing of Executive Board 
meetings, a report was considered and agreed by the Board on 19th April.  It should 
be noted, that in agreeing the report Executive Board members commented also on 
the need for the HWP to have more explicit regard for the Environmental Impact of 
housing development, as well as recognising the need for housing growth and 
delivery.  For completeness, these additional points have therefore been 
incorporated into Appendix 1 to this report and have now been sent to DCLG, as part 
of the overall response.  These additional points are Leeds City Council Additional 
Point 4 (Appendix 1 to EB Report) and point vii (Appendix 3 to EB Report). 

4. The purpose of this report therefore is to provide members of the Development Plan 
Panel with the opportunity to consider the City Council’s substantive response to the 
HWP (which has now been sent to DCLG) and to make any additional supplementary 
comments which can be also sent. 

Recommendations 

5. Development Plan Panel is invited to note and comment on the contents of this 
report. 

.

Page 8



 

 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 The Government’s Housing White Paper (HWP), entitled - ‘Fixing our broken 
housing market’, together with background papers and technical information, was 
issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) on 7th 
February.  The material is wide ranging in scope and sets out a series of reforms 
that the Government plans to introduce, to help change the housing market and 
increase the supply of new homes (1 million new homes by 2020).  The overarching 
emphasis of the Paper is the “need to build many more houses of the type people 
want to live in, in the places they want to live” and in order to achieve this, the White 
Paper seeks to take a comprehensive approach that “tackles failure at every point in 
the system”. 

2. Background Information 

2.1 See attached Executive Board Report (Appendix 1 to this report). 

3. Main issues 

3.1 See attached Executive Board Report (Appendix 1 to this report). 

4. Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 See attached Executive Board Report (Appendix 1 to this report). 

4.2. Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 See attached Executive Board Report (Appendix 1 to this report). 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 See attached Executive Board Report (Appendix 1 to this report). 

4.4. Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 See attached Executive Board Report (Appendix 1 to this report). 

4.5. Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 See attached Executive Board Report (Appendix 1 to this report). 

4.6. Risk Management 

4.6.1 See attached Executive Board Report (Appendix 1 to this report). 

5. Conclusions 

5.1 The City Council’s response to the HWP has previously been considered by 
Executive Board (19th April) and dispatched to DCLG for the 2nd May deadline.  
The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Development Plan Panel 

Page 9



 

 

the opportunity to consider these comments and to make any supplementary points, 
to add to the substantive response. 

6. Recommendations 

6.1 Development Plan Panel is invited to note and comment on the contents of this 
report. 

Page 10



 

 

DPP Appendix 1 

Housing White Paper – Executive Board Report 19th April 

 

Page 11



 

 
 

 

Report of Director of City Development 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 19th April 2017 

Subject: Housing White Paper – Department of Communities & Local 
Government (DCLG) 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?     Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): ALL   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The Government’s Housing White Paper (HWP), entitled - ‘Fixing our 
broken housing market’, together with background papers and technical 
information, was issued by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) on 7th February.  The material is wide ranging in 
scope and sets out a series of reforms that the Government plans to 
introduce, to help change the housing market and increase the supply of 
new homes (1 million new homes by 2020).  The overarching emphasis of 
the Paper is the “need to build many more houses of the type people want 
to live in, in the places they want to live” and in order to achieve this, the 
White Paper seeks to take a comprehensive approach that “tackles failure at 
every point in the system”.   

2. The deadline for comment on the HWP proposals is 2nd May 2017, with 
interested parties requested to respond to 38 questions set out as part of 
the document.  The City Council’s response to these questions (and 
additional points the Council wishes to raise) is set out in Appendix 1 of this 
report. 

3. Alongside the HWP, DCLG has also published a number of related 
consultation and technical documents.  These are: Planning & affordable 
homes to rent consultation, National Planning Policy: consultation on 

Report authors:  
David Feeney  0113 3787660, 
Martin Elliot  0113 3787634 

Page 12



 

 
 

proposed changes, Response to the starter homes technical consultation, 
Summary of responses to the technical consultation on implementation of 
planning changes, Consultation on upward extension (in London) and Rural 
Planning Review call for evidence, Report of the Local Plans Expert Group: 
government response to the CLG Select Committee Inquiry, Community 
Infrastructure Levy Review and Three Dragons & University of Reading 
Research Report.  Not all of this material is directly applicable to Leeds, but 
where key issues have been raised (in particular the proposed revisions to 
the Community Infrastructure Levy) which have implications for the City 
Council, the response has been included in Appendix 2 to this report.  A 
covering letter to the Secretary of State, in response to the consultation has 
also been included in Appendix 3 of the report. 

 City Council action in tackling Housing Growth and Delivery 

4. In supporting the needs of a compassionate City with a strong economy, the 
adopted Core Strategy, Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan, Site Allocations 
Plan and the Housing Breakthrough Project, provide a framework for Leeds 
to deliver housing growth.  This is necessary to meet the complex housing 
needs across the District, now and into the future.  Within this overall local 
context, the HWP is to be broadly welcomed in analysing the reasons for 
poor performance of the housing market and seeking to tackle issues of 
market failure, affordability and the need to boost housing delivery. 

5. In reflecting these concerns and priorities, through Executive Board the City 
Council over several years, has sought to meet housing priorities through a 
range of initiatives and interventions, more recently focussed through the 
Housing Growth Board.  These have included the regeneration of brownfield 
land, efforts to secure a 5 year housing land supply through selective 
release of greenfield land, building Council Houses, the Private Sector 
Accelerated Growth Programme, return of Empty Properties to use and 
bringing forward the East Leeds Extension for circa 5,000 homes.  Also, in 
reflecting the planning priorities specified in the HWP, the City Council is 
taking a plan-led approach to meeting housing needs, place making and 
delivery, with development plans either adopted or at a very advanced 
stage. 

 The Scope of the HWP and City Council concerns 

6. The analysis in the HWP is to be welcomed.  It shows that the Government 
recognises the scale of the housing problem and that the reliance on a small 
number of volume house builders is a problem. 

7. However, notwithstanding the positive and strategic intent behind the HWP, 
the City Council considers that key opportunities have been missed to 
fundamentally address market failures, boost regeneration (including the 
reuse of brownfield land through more specific interventions) and to support 
housing growth in sustainable locations through new delivery models and 
investment in infrastructure.  Whilst the City Council has worked effectively 
and proactively with a range of partners and investors over several years 
(including Central Government), to deliver major regeneration and housing 

Page 13



 

 
 

growth, these efforts are sometimes frustrated by the delivery models of the 
house building industry, viability issues, the tools and resources available to 
local authorities, or prevailing economic circumstances.  It is considered 
therefore that as it currently stands, the White Paper is unlike to achieve the 
step changes required unless more focussed requirements are introduced, 
there is greater clarity and accountability and there is a more effective 
balance of both ‘sticks’ and ‘carrots’ to boost delivery. 

 HWP Implications for Leeds 

8. The HWP sets out a series of proposals, set out in response to the themes 
of: ‘Planning for homes in the right places’, ‘Building homes faster’, 
‘Diversifying the market’ and ‘Helping people now’.  As detailed in the 
following report, this approach raises a number of issues for Leeds.  These 
include: 

 
 The development plan making process & role of neighbourhood plans, 
 Proposals to ‘standardise’ the approach’ to calculating Objectively 

Assessed Housing Need, 
 Working with neighbouring authorities, 
 Green Belt release – examining reasonable options, 
 Housing density and space standards, 
 Boosting local authority capacity, 
 Infrastructure & utilities, 
 Holding developers & local authorities to account, 
 Diversifying the market including support for SMEs, 
 Empty Homes, 
 Meeting future housing needs, 
 Review of the Community Infrastructure Levy 

  Recommendations 

9. Executive Board is recommended to: 

i) Consider and agree, the recommendations in response to the HWP 
questions, Background papers and Technical information set out in 
Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 of this report; 

ii) Consider and agree the additional City Council comments in response 
to the HWP, set out in Appendix 1 of this report;  

iii) Give delegated authority to the Chief Planning Officer, in consultation 
with the Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning, 
to make any further supplementary or additional comments to the 
HWP, Background papers and Technical information, in addition to the 
material considered by the Board; and 

iv) Agree that for the reasons specified in para. 4.5.2, the report should be 
exempt from Call In. 

Page 14



 

 
 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report, is to set out the City Council’s response to the 
HWP and associated background and technical documents, which were 
issued on the 7th February 2017.  The format of the HWP consultation is the 
need to respond to a series of specific questions set out in the Paper.  The 
response to these questions is set out in Appendix 1 of this report.  In 
responding to these questions, there are a number of related matters the City 
Council also wishes to raise in relation to the material.  These are summarised 
under Main issues below and also included in Appendix 1. 

1.2 In addition to the main HWP document, DCLG have also issued a series of 
background and technical documents.  These cut across a range of issues, 
not all of which are directly relevant to Leeds.  However, where there are 
specific implications, the City Council’s detailed responses are set out in 
Appendix 2 of this report and summarised in the Main issues section below. 

2. Background information 

2.1 The overarching ambition of Central Government as described in the HWP, is 
to ‘fix the broken housing market’.  The Council considers that it is important 
to emphasise at the outset however, that the housing market is very complex 
and does not simply operate on a supply and demand basis.  For decades 
also, successive Central Governments have taken different ideological and 
policy positions on housing provision and delivery.  As a result, the approach 
has oscillated between more ‘interventionist’ and ‘free market’ models. 

2.2 Within this context, Central Government’s desire via the HWP is to  ‘fix’ the 
housing market at a point in time, consistent with National  Government 
manifesto commitments, including the delivery of 1 million new homes by 
2020.  The focus of the Paper (and supporting housing material), is therefore 
intended to boost housing supply and provision and to diversify the housing 
market.  In seeking to achieve these ambitions, the Paper proposes a series 
of initiatives and interventions to facilitate change, including a range of 
technical changes to the planning process, performance management and 
monitoring, together with further mechanisms to enable people to gain access 
to the housing market. 

2.3 It is accepted that whilst the HWP may be ambitious in its intent and makes a 
number of positive and necessary proposals to make a difference, the nature 
and complexity of the issues it is seeking to address are such, that the Paper 
lacks the sufficient clarity and measures to make the cross-cutting step 
changes which are necessary.  Consequently, the City Council considers that 
in a number of key areas opportunities have been missed to introduce 
structural, operational and financial changes, which could make a lasting 
difference and ensure that those in need are able to access housing at an 
affordable price. 

 

Page 15



 

 
 

City Council Action to Boost Housing Delivery 

2.4 At a local level, the City Council for many years has afforded a high priority to 
facilitating housing growth and delivery to meet a range of complex housing 
needs, now and in the future.  The main focus of this work is in the inner area, 
East Leeds and the City Centre; areas which has been slower to recover from 
recession and where the adopted Core Strategy, Site Allocations Plan and 
Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan focusses the majority of housing 
development.  This work has been focussed also through the Housing 
Breakthrough project and the work of the Housing Growth Board.  In February 
Executive Board considered a Breakthrough Project report on “Housing 
Growth and High Standards in all Sectors”, which detailed the Council’s pro-
active and cross tenure approach to stimulating housing growth.  The Council 
established a cross Directorate housing growth team (working across 
planning, asset management, housing and regeneration) to stimulate delivery 
(e.g. the Private Sector Acceleration Programme has assisted in unblocking 
over 1,200 homes since 2014, with a further 7,783 on the programme). 

2.5 In March, Executive Board also considered a report on developing mixed 
residential communities in the City Centre, which detailed implementation 
measures to stimulate the delivery of a specific Private Rented Sector housing 
model, where there is a potential supply of over 1,000 homes per annum.  
Moreover, the Council has also been successful in attracting development 
interest for the delivery of new private housing in the Seacroft, Halton Moor 
and Osmondthorpe areas of the City, by packaging its own land for sale to the 
market.  A development agreement is now in place with Strata Homes and 
community regeneration specialist, Keepmoat which will secure the 
redevelopment of 13 sites delivering almost 1,000 new homes across these 
neighbourhoods.  Executive Board also endorsed the Council House Building 
Programme (with an initial programme of 1,000 homes). 

2.6 These actions reflect the local imperative to deliver new homes, particularly on 
brownfield land for a range of needs and in a variety of tenures.  These efforts 
however need to be enhanced and accelerated by lasting structural changes 
and interventions focussed through the HWP, to urgently help stimulate the 
market, boost the supply of housing and to deliver the new homes which are 
needed in sustainable locations across the District. 

3. Main issues  

 Housing White Paper (DCLG) 

3.1 The main points of the White Paper are summarised below:  

 Making sure every part of the country has an up-to-date, sufficiently 
ambitious plan so that local communities decide where development 
should go; 

 Simplifying plan-making and making it more transparent, so it’s easier 
for communities to produce plans and easier for developers to follow 
them; 

Page 16



 

 
 

 Ensuring that plans start from an honest assessment of the need for 
new homes, and that local authorities work with their neighbours, so 
that difficult decisions are not ducked; 

 Clarifying what land is available for new housing, through greater 
transparency over who owns land and the options held on it; 

 Making more land available for homes in the right places, by 
maximising the contribution from brownfield and surplus public land, 
regenerating estates, releasing more small and medium-sized sites, 
allowing rural communities to grow and making it easier to build new 
settlements; 

 Maintaining existing strong protections for the Green Belt, and 
clarifying that Green Belt boundaries should be amended only in 
exceptional circumstances when local authorities can demonstrate 
that they have fully examined all other reasonable options for meeting 
their identified housing requirements;  

 Giving communities a stronger voice in the design of new housing to 
drive up the quality and character of new development, building on the 
success of neighbourhood planning; and 

 Making better use of land for housing by encouraging higher 
densities, where appropriate, such as in urban locations where there 
is high housing demand; and by reviewing space standards. 

Planning for homes in the right places 

 Providing greater certainty for authorities that have planned for new 
homes and reducing the scope for local and neighbourhood plans to 
be undermined by changing the way that land supply for housing is 
assessed;  

 Boosting local authority capacity and capability to deliver, improving 
the speed and quality with which planning cases are handled, while 
deterring unnecessary appeals;  

 Ensuring infrastructure is provided in the right place at the right time 
by coordinating Government investment and through the targeting of 
the £2.3bn Housing Infrastructure Fund;  

 Securing timely connections to utilities so that this does not hold up 
getting homes built;  

 Supporting developers to build out more quickly by tackling 
unnecessary delays caused by planning conditions, facilitating the 
strategic licensing of protected species and exploring a new approach 
to how developers contribute to infrastructure;  

 Taking steps to address skills shortages by growing the construction 
workforce;  

 Holding developers to account for the delivery of new homes through 
better and more transparent data and sharper tools to drive up 
delivery; and  

 Holding local authorities to account through a new housing delivery 
test. 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

Building Homes Faster 

 Increase planning fees – LAs can increase fees by 20% from July 
2017 if the additional fee income is invested in planning departments.  

 Provide £25million of new funding to help ambitious authorities in 
areas of high housing need to support planning and infrastructure 
plans. 

 Deter unnecessary appeals by consulting on introducing a fee for 
making a planning appeal. 

 Target the £3bn Housing Infrastructure Fund (capital grant) at areas 
of greatest housing need. 

 Introduce a housing delivery test for local authorities to ensure they 
are delivering the housing needed with monitoring starting from the 
period April 2014-March 2015 to April 2016-March 2017. 

 Address the lack of capacity in planning departments by ensuring 
councils have sufficient funding to recruit properly trained planners. 

 Ensuring the right infrastructure is in place and secure timely 
connections to utilities to allow building to start promptly. 

 Addressing skills shortages in the construction workforce. 

Diversifying the market 

 Backing small and medium-sized builders to grow, including through 
the Home Building Fund; 

 Supporting custom-build homes with greater access to land and 
finance, giving more people more choice over the design of their 
home;  

 Bringing in new contractors through our Accelerated Construction 
programme that can build homes more quickly than traditional 
builders;  

 Encouraging more institutional investors into housing, including for 
building more homes for private rent, and encouraging family-friendly 
tenancies;  

 Supporting housing associations and local authorities to build more 
homes; and  

 Boosting productivity and innovation by encouraging modern methods 
of construction in house building  

Helping People now 

 Continuing to support people to buy their own home – through Help to 
Buy and Starter Homes;  

 Helping households who are priced out of the market to afford a 
decent home that is right for them through our investment in the 
Affordable Homes Programme;  

 Making renting fairer for tenants; 
 Taking action to promote transparency and fairness for the growing 

number of leaseholders; 
 Improving neighbourhoods by continuing to crack down on empty 

homes, and supporting areas most affected by second homes;  

Page 18



 

 
 

 Encouraging the development of housing that meets the needs of our 
future population;  

 Helping the most vulnerable who need support with their housing, 
developing a sustainable and workable approach to funding supported 
housing in the future; and 

 Doing more to prevent homelessness by supporting households at 
risk before they reach crisis point as well as reducing rough sleeping. 

Summary of the City Council’s Response to the White Paper in Appendix 1 

3.2 Overall, Central Government’s ambition   to address what is described in the 
HWP as ‘fixing the broken market”, is to be broadly welcomed by the City 
Council.  The analysis presented in the HWP, of what is wrong with the 
market, is considered to be correct and reflects concerns that have been 
experienced in Leeds around an over-reliance on the volume sector and 
delivery of owner-occupied housing.  

3.3 It is especially welcomed that the HWP maintains that local authorities need to 
identify (via their objectively assessed needs) a range of housing (types and 
tenures) to meet the aspirations of a wide range of communities.  However, 
the White Paper needs to be more explicit in the delivery of a range of 
housing solutions and delivery flexibility to plan and deliver the housing that 
local communities need. 

3.4 In addition the Council welcomes that resourcing issues of local planning 
authorities are recognised in the HWP and that an increase of planning fees 
identified to help remedy this.  Similarly, the Council welcomes recognition 
that local planning authorities with the greatest housing needs require 
additional resources.   

3.5 The common criticism that planning slows down delivery remains and many of 
the proposals are focussed on local planning authorities rather than on the 
private development industry.  As Members will be aware a lack of planning 
permissions is not the cause of low delivery in Leeds, where private 
developers often don’t build even with a planning permission and for every 
house constructed there are seven with permission.   

3.6 As previously reported to Executive Board, there are currently c19,000 new 
homes with planning permission in Leeds which are unimplemented.  Housing 
completions, not just permissions are therefore an imperative in providing new 
homes. Consequently, the City Council considers therefore that the HWP 
should have gone further to ensure that there is an optimum balance between 
both ‘sticks’ and ‘carrots’ and that these are directed across the housing 
sector to the most responsible agency, body or provider.  The HWP contains 
proposals on design which it is feared will weaken good design so as to 
achieve delivery of housing.  As well as design policies as part of the Core 
Strategy, Leeds has established supplementary planning guidance called 
“Neighbourhoods for Living” which underpins good quality design in Leeds. 

3.7 The Government rightly accepts that a reliance on the volume house building 
industry to deliver the right level of homes needed of the right type and in the 

Page 19



 

 
 

right locations cannot be sustained.  However, the Government remains pre-
occupied with amendments to the planning system as a means of remedying 
delivery rather than fundamentally changing the structure and balance of the 
market or more directly challenging the responsibility and methods of the 
house building industry to make up for current shortfalls in housing. 

3.8 The policy solutions advocated in the HWP appear to reflect a ‘one-size fits 
all’ approach or at best are focussed on tackling an overheated housing 
market in the south-east of England.  Consequently the City Council considers 
that greater recognition and differentiation needs to be made where local 
authorities such as Leeds are seeking to plan proactively for housing growth 
to suit local circumstances.   

3.9 Within this context the City Council considers therefore that a whole 
Government approach is necessary to deliver and unlock housing growth, 
concurrent with necessary infrastructure in sustainable locations.  

3.10 The HWP does not go far enough to enable local authorities to determine 
local solutions to meeting housing need and delivery.  For example, more 
enabling freedoms for local authorities to access the Housing Revenue 
Account, so that the City Council itself can build at scale equivalent to its 
underlying HRA strength.  Without this the Council’s endeavours to tackle 
housing issues more fully will continue to be inhibited. 

Background Papers & Technical consultations 

3.11 The White Paper retains the Government’s broad ambitions for “Starter 
Homes” but does not make the operation in practice, or whether Starter 
Homes are mandatory, particularly clear.  The City Council would argue that 
there are a range of affordable products which would better suit the local 
Leeds housing market.   

3.12 The HWP contains a background paper on a response to Starter Homes to 
which the City Council submitted a consultation response. 

 The supporting document to the HWP ‘Government response to the 
technical consultation on starter homes regulations’, sets out the 
Governments response to the technical consultation which ended in 
June 2016.  Following this response as part of the HWP consultation the 
Government is proposing to amend the NPPF to introduce a clear policy 
expectation that suitable housing sites deliver a minimum of 10% 
affordable starter homes.  As part of the HWP consultation starter homes 
are defined as homes which are targeted at first time buyers with a joint 
income of less than £80,000 under the age of 40.  It will be for local 
areas to work with developers to agree an appropriate level of delivery of 
starter homes, alongside other affordable home ownership and rented 
tenures.  

 The Annex to the HWP seeks views on an updated definition of 
affordable housing, which includes a revised definition of starter homes. 
In addition it is proposed to allow more brownfield land to be released for 

Page 20



 

 
 

development with a higher proportion of starter homes.  Whilst starter 
homes are welcomed as a low cost housing product to assist first time 
buyers there is concern in relation to the impact of the proposals on 
affordable housing.  Definitions of affordable housing should always 
relate to products that are affordable in perpetuity, which benefit future 
users, unless subject to other legislative requirements such as right to 
buy.  The HWP proposes a 15 year repayment period for starter homes 
which does not provide perpetuity.  Therefore, in its overall role as a 
separate component to affordable housing, starter homes require further 
and detailed clarification on their role, not simply further detail on 
repayment options / target setting by local authorities. 

 The proposed changing of the definition of affordable housing to include 
starter homes, will  inevitably change the provision of affordable housing 
for those on the lowest incomes and in greatest need.  In particular there 
will be an impact on affordable housing targets set out in policy H5 of the 
Core Strategy as developers will prefer to provide starter homes over 
affordable housing.  Executive Board agreed that the scope of a 
Selective Review of the Core Strategy (in February 2017) should include 
affordable housing, and the provisions of the HWP as they lead to 
changes to national policy and guidance will be reflected.   

 The HWP background material also makes recommendations to replace 
the Community Infrastructure Levy with a hybrid system of a broad and 
low level Local Infrastructure Tariff (LIT) and Section 106 for larger 
developments.  A summary of these is set out in Appendix 2.  However, 
at this stage these remain draft proposals, yet to be formally translated 
into Regulations and consequently will need to be kept under review. 

3.11   Next Steps 

3.11.1 As noted in paragraph 2 above (summary of main issues), the deadline for 
responses to the HWP is 2nd May 2017.  Subject to Executive Board’s 
consideration of this report, given timescales there is a further opportunity to 
add and consolidate this response in order to ensure that the City Council 
submits a comprehensive response to the important matters raised. 

4. Corporate Considerations 

Housing supply and completion is a key and fundamental issue for a District 
the size and complexity of Leeds.  Consequently, it is an integral priority as 
part of the Best Council Plan (and Breakthrough Projects) and day to day 
service delivery.  In meeting the City Council’s planning obligations for 
housing as part of the development plan, the Adopted Core Strategy (and 
Core Strategy Review) and Allocation Plans (the Aire Valley Leeds Area 
Action Plan and Site Allocations Plan), there is a comprehensive framework 
in place (and progressing via Plan submission and independent 
examination), to meet overall housing needs across Leeds in sustainable 
locations. 

4.1    Consultation and Engagement 

Page 21



 

 
 

4.1.1 Given the cross cutting nature of the HWP (and supporting Background 
documents and Technical Papers) proposals, there has been extensive 
engagement across Council services, with responsibility of housing 
regeneration, growth and delivery.  Engagement has also taken places with 
the Development Lead Members. 

4.2   Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 The HWP, aims to help tackle a national issue described by DCLG as ‘fixing 
the broken housing market’ and recognises the importance of meeting a 
variety of complex housing needs in the provision of housing.  In Leeds, 
given the scale of the District and diversity of community areas, these issues 
are especially acute in meeting housing needs, now and in the future.  In 
reflecting such issues, the Adopted Core Strategy (and selective Review) is 
focussed upon setting overall housing requirements, as well as 
incorporating Policies on Housing mix.  Evidence base work currently 
underway as part of the Core Strategy Review (Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment), gives particular emphasis to helping to understanding the 
dynamics and nature of housing need and the housing market in Leeds, as 
a basis to influence subsequent planning Policy and implementation issues. 
 

4.2.2 In addition to the planning context, in reflecting the priorities set as part of 
the Best Council Plan, the work of the Housing Growth Board is focussing 
on a comprehensive programme of work, in the delivery of projects and 
initiatives intended to boost housing delivery – including the needs of 
vulnerable people across the District. 

 
4.2.3 An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening has been 

completed and is attached as an appendix. 

4.3   Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 As noted above, Housing Growth and delivery are key priorities as part of 
the preparation of the Development Plan, Best Council Plan and 
Breakthrough projects. 

4.4   Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 Housing is a key cross cutting issue for the Council, which has a direct 
impact on the Council’s budget, policy and operational service issues.  This 
is reflected in the expenditure required to maintain key services (including 
Social Care), income generated to the Council (including via Council Tax, 
Section 106 and CIL income), the management of the Council’s housing 
stock and related asset management issues and also the strategic links to 
the provision of infrastructure and utilities. 

4.5    Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The HWP  sets out a number of Central Government proposals, much of 
which continue to be subject to statutory consultation which will necessary 
require the final proposals to be formally transposed into Primary and 

Page 22



 

 
 

Secondary Legislation and amended National Planning Policy.  The range of 
measures outlined in the HWP, are significant and include revisions to the 
plan-making process, the role of neighbourhood planning and Community 
Infrastructure Levy. 

4.5.2  Whilst all decisions of the Executive Board are eligible for Call In, it is 
recommended that the Board resolve to exempt from the Call In process the 
decisions arising from this report.  This is due to the short timescale to 
comment on the HWP proposals (set by DCLG) and the timing of Scrutiny 
and Executive Board meetings.  As noted above the HWP (Background 
papers and technical material) was issued on the 7th February.  Due to the 
wide ranging nature of the material and the need to complete internal 
consultation across Council services in preparing the draft response, it has 
not been possible to report to Executive Board until the April cycle.  The 
deadline set by DCLG for final responses is the 2nd May.  Consequently, if 
this report were to be Called In, it is likely that this further consideration and 
any additional recommendations to Executive Board would not be 
concluded until after the deadline.  It is considered therefore that under 
these circumstances and given the significant nature of the HWP and its 
implications for the Council, it is considered important to meet the DCLG 
and therefore for the report to be exempted.  

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 The need to deliver housing growth is a key priority as part of the Best 
Council Plan and related breakthrough project.  Any subsequent related 
amendment to how housing growth is delivered needs to kept under review 
given these Council responsibilities, the threat of special measures from 
DCLG and the operation of the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development in the absence of a 5 year land supply, which removes local 
choice.   

5. Conclusions 

5.1 The HWP has been an eagerly awaited document, to help address and 
where possible remedy the operation of the housing market.  This is an 
imperative, given what many commentators (including the organisation 
Shelter) have described as a ‘national housing crisis’.  In a District the size 
and complexity of Leeds these issues are especially acute and the City 
Council has been proactive for many years to ensure that integrated 
strategies, programmes, initiatives, interventions and actions are all in place, 
to help moderate the excesses and where possible direct the operation 
housing market. 

5.2 The stated ambition of Central Government reflected in the HWP is to 
address what is described as ‘fixing the broken housing market’.  Whilst the 
Paper provides a succinct and informed analysis of the current inadequacies 
of the market, the proposals which flow out of the analysis, appear to do 
little in practice to fundamentally remedy the structural issues and problems 
set out.  Should the proposals of the White Paper be implemented as they 
stand, time would only tell if they would be sufficient to fix the problems 

Page 23



 

 
 

identified.  It is the Council’s view however, that  whilst a number of 
proposals could have a positive impact (subject to further qualification and 
clarification), in key areas the intended ‘fixes’, fall considerable short of the 
structure and lasting interventions which are necessary to affect a step 
change. 

5.3 As set out in Appendix 1, the City Council acknowledges that there are a 
number of components of the proposals which are to be welcomed, many 
lack sufficient clarity or could more effectively targeted.  Consequently, a 
series of recommendations are made (both in response to the HWP 
questions and additional points), which are seeking to strengthen and 
articulate necessary actions to take this key agenda forward.  These 
comments are intended to be constructive and recognise the complexity of 
the issues the Paper is aiming to address.  The purpose of these responses 
also, is to help provide a continuing context, to continue to work with a range 
of partners (including Central Government) to tackle housing priorities in 
Leeds, now and in the future. 

6. Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to: 

i) Consider and agree, the recommendations in response to the HWP 
questions, Background papers and Technical information set out in 
Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 of this report; 

ii) Consider and agree the additional City Council comments in 
response to the HWP, set out in Appendix 1 of this report;  

iii) Give delegated authority to the Chief Planning Officer, in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport 
and Planning, to make any further supplementary or additional 
comments to the HWP, Background papers and Technical 
information, in addition to the material considered by the Board; and 

iv) Agree that for the reasons specified in para. 4.5.2, the report should 
be exempt from Call In. 

 
7 Background Documents1  
 
7.1 None. 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s 
website, unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents 
does not include published works. 

Page 24



 

 
 

EB Appendix 1: Housing White Paper (DCLG) – Leeds City Council Response 
 
No. DCLG Question  LCC Response and Proposed Recommendations 
1a Do you agree with the proposals to make clear 

in the National Planning Policy Framework that 
the key strategic policies that each local 
planning authority should maintain are those 
set out currently at paragraph 156, of the 
Framework, with an additional requirement to 
plan for the allocations needed to deliver the 
area’s housing requirement? 

Yes.  LCC broadly agrees with the addition of a requirement to plan for the 
allocations needed to deliver the area’s housing requirement. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
DCLG need to ensure that evidence on the contribution from historic 
windfall and empty homes are also considered alongside the level of 
allocated land required.  Such an approach is especially important in large 
metropolitan authorities such as Leeds.  This is central to the Adopted 
Leeds Core Strategy (2014) where just over 10% of housing need is being 
met on un-allocated windfall sites. 

1b Do you agree with the proposals to use 
regulations to allow Spatial Development 
Strategies to allocate strategic sites, where 
these strategies require unanimous agreement 
of the members of the combined authority? 
 

No.  The Government’s rationale for allowing the allocation of strategic 
sites via Spatial Development Strategies is currently unclear.  Most 
Combined Authorities do not have such strategies in place and they will 
take time and resources to produce – which would seem contrary to the 
Government’s intention to urgently boost housing supply and delivery and 
include a time delay in delivering policy solutions quickly and effectively.  In 
West Yorkshire the majority of local authorities have an up to date Local 
Plan; either Adopted or at a very advanced stage.  The City Council are 
concerned that such allocations could serve to remove the link between 
local people and plan-making, which was an issue in relation to the 
preparation of the former Regional Spatial Strategies.  The first Core 
Principle of the NPPF sets out that planning should be “genuinely plan-led, 
empowering local people to shape their surroundings, with succinct local 
and neighbourhood plans setting out a positive vision for the future of the 
area”.  The measures would also potentially cast doubt on the established 
Duty to Cooperate arrangements, as it is not clear how such proposals 
would operate in practice.   
 
 

P
age 25



 

 
 

LCC Recommendation 
The White Paper should take steps to strengthen the Local Plan as the 
keystone of the planning system.  It is suggested that where Combined 
Authorities consider that genuinely sub-regional scale strategic sites are 
justified, these are supported by the Combined Authority via the Local Plan 
making process.  In Leeds this has been the case with the progression to 
Examination in Jan 2017 of the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan which 
provides for an Enterprise Zone and is a key allocation in the West 
Yorkshire Strategic Economic Plan and the Enterprise Zone for the City 
Region.   

1c Do you agree with the proposals to revise the 
National Planning Policy Framework to tighten 
the definition of what evidence is required to 
support a ‘sound’ plan? 
 

Yes.  This is a helpful clarification which establishes that the LPA should 
set out, “an” appropriate strategy and allows a more proportionate 
approach to evidence.  Both these elements are key means by which plans 
are slowed during preparation and the changes would help speed up their 
production and enable more responsive and targeted “selective” review.  

2 What changes do you think would support 
more proportionate consultation and 
examination procedures for different types of 
plan and to ensure that different levels of plans 
work together? 

LCC Recommendation 
The City Council supports the re-emphasis on the Local Plan as an 
integrated family of documents.  There is a need to update the “Plain 
English guide to the Planning System” so as to specify the type and nature 
of individual Local Plan Documents.  There is also a need to stress that 
Local Plans are geared to individual LPA circumstances via a 
proportionate evidence base and local consultation.  This reflects the 
principles of ‘localism’, as established in the 2011 Act. 
 
Simplifying the “tests of soundness” or removing the need for LPAs to 
consult on the strict basis of soundness would provide a more ‘user-
friendly’ experience, as this is an area of consistent criticism and confusion 
from those involved in consultation process. 
 
Greater use of on-line consultation will help speed up the process.  Leeds’ 
recent experience from use of on-line interactive mapping was positive 
with over 40,000 individual representations: 1/3 on paper; 1/3 by e-mail 

P
age 26



 

 
 

and 1/3 via on-line map.   
 
Provided that LPAs consider that they have prepared a sound plan which 
addresses key strategic policies, there should be a greater targeting of 
matters for development plan examination so as to avoid protracted 
debates / alternative strategies at a late stage and reduce costs.   
 
Government should also revisit support for LPAs mid-way through Local 
Plan making processes so as to ensure that fewer plans are withdrawn at 
Examination stage.  Use of PINS frontloading or independent views via 
Planning Aid would be helpful.  It is considered that generic good practice 
guidance on this matter is less helpful in addressing specific local issues 
that arise.  Leeds has previously benefitted from a PINS frontloading visit 
and would therefore advocate its re-introduction. 

3a Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
national policy so that local planning authorities 
are expected to have clear policies for 
addressing the housing requirements of groups 
with particular needs, such as older and 
disabled people? 
 

Yes.  These needs are already picked up through Strategic Housing 
Market Assessments (SHMAs) and reflected in the Adopted Core 
Strategy.  It is the implementation of such needs that causes difficulty 
when house builders are averse to constructing homes outside of their 
models.    
 
LCC Recommendation 
The City Council finds it difficult to include ‘non-standard’ homes as part of 
a wider mix where any impacts on overall viability are apparent.  LPAs are 
currently in a weak position to refuse applications on basis of lack of mix, 
given wider Framework policies on viability and the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development.  To that end, given that groups with particular 
needs form a part of the national demographic a stronger policy framework 
within the NPPF on a mix of housing is needed so as to encourage national 
housebuilders to change their models of delivery.  If the Government’s 
intention is to ‘fix the broken housing market’, greater emphasis needs to 
be placed on being able to effectively meet specific and complex needs, 
rather than just delivering what the market is prepared to provide. 

P
age 27



 

 
 

3b Do you agree with the proposals from early 
2018 to use a standardised approach to 
assessing housing requirements as the 
baseline for five year housing supply 
calculations and monitoring housing delivery, 
in the absence of an up-to-date plan? 
 

Broadly Yes.  The White Paper confirms that the Government will consult 
on options for introducing a more standardised approach to assessing 
housing requirements.  Until the detail of such a methodology is known it is 
difficult to accept it in principle but efforts to simplify what has become a 
very elaborate technical exercise would be welcomed.  It would be useful if 
such an approach could be ‘pilot tested’ prior to any formal introduction, in 
order to test how it might apply in different circumstances, as a basis to 
test and anticipate any unforeseen or unintended consequences. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
Some of the LPEG suggestions were strenuously challenged by 
demographic experts and the Government needs to specifically consider 
the following elements of such a standard approach: 

 relationship between job growth and housing growth and how this is 
reflected – the Council considers that the LPEG method would be 
subject to challenge for those authorities with economic / 
transformational growth ambitions 

 need to plan a middle road through boom and bust rather than for 
extremes of market performance – the Council (under the current 
methodology) has a housing requirement towards the upper limits 
of likely scenarios, which is not being delivered 

 need for clarity on affordable housing need as a driver of higher 
housing numbers – some LPAs may require higher overall 
numbers to deliver more affordable housing via planning gain, 
others like Leeds will deliver affordable housing need within 
housing requirements.  A standard approach should not threaten 
this bespoke approach. 

4a Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development so that authorities are expected 
to have a clear strategy for maximising the 
use of suitable land in their areas? 

Yes.  Local Plan policies should reflect the desirability of re-using 
brownfield land.  However, LPAs and housing providers also have to deal 
with the fact that brownfield land can be more expensive to develop, which 
can impact on the viability of proposals. 
 

P
age 28



 

 
 

 This is the approach of the Adopted Leeds Core Strategy which identifies 
over 60% of its housing needs on suitable previously developed land, with 
a spatial strategy prioritising regeneration, city centre living and brownfield 
land.  Definitions of “suitable land” are used for plan-making as set out in 
Footnote 11 of Framework.   
 
The City Council considers that the challenges of delivery arise at the 
decision taking stage where in our experience housebuilders argue that 
suitable land is not deliverable either because it is not available (e.g. Leeds 
has over 7,000 homes on suitable allocated land for housing within the City 
Centre much of which has more than one permission for housing and is in 
use for car parking) or is considered to not be achievable (e.g. house 
builders using standard models are unable to meet their profit expectations, 
despite flexibilities offered through the planning process).  Developers 
argue via the decision taking process that other land (not identified as 
suitable for housing at the current time e.g. safeguarded land) should be 
developed instead.  This argument – chiefly made via the five year housing 
land supply – erodes confidence in the plan-making process and replaces 
suitable previously developed land sites with greenfield releases.     
 
LCC Recommendation 
The fact that land is “suitable” should have greater weight than whether it is 
“available” (this can be artificially constrained) or “achievable” (this can be 
governed by developer attitude, profit expectation and often inflexible 
models).   Placing each definition on an equal footing so as to expect all 
land to be deliverable has, since the NPPF was first published, helped slow 
down the delivery of housing and lead to more “planning by appeal”.  
Footnote 11 of the NPPF and accompanying guidance should clarify this.    
 
In addition, and in light of experiences in Leeds, in its proposed form the 
PiFSD should promote the use of suitable land for decision taking in the 
same manner as the plan-making criteria.  

P
age 29



 

 
 

In seeking to address viability issues, the Government needs to introduce 
greater challenge, where developers consider that proposals are not viable.  
What are the determinants of this?  Is it market choice, profit margins or 
business models, rather than physical site constraints?  Given that such 
sites are often located in sustainable locations within urban areas, greater 
incentives and interventions are therefore needed in the market to bring 
such sites forward.   

4b Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development so that it makes clear that 
identified development needs should be 
accommodated unless there are strong 
reasons for not doing so set out in the 
NPFF? 
 

Yes.  Provided that greater powers are provided to LPAs to establish and 
deliver development needs on suitable land (as set out in our answer to 
question 4a).   
 
LCC Recommendation 
The City Council agrees that development needs must be met but 
achievement of their wider impact and achievement of concurrent 
environmental / economic / social objectives are also of key importance.  
Currently, the balance between the three components of sustainable 
development favours the economic objective of market housing delivery, 
particularly at the expense of the social imperatives of local infrastructure, 
affordable housing, delivery of schools and health services which in our 
experience are the issues of most concern to local people.  The PiFSD sets 
a requirement for LPA to approve development unless the adverse impacts 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  This is a high bar 
test.    

4c Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development so that the list of policies which 
the Government regards as providing 
reasons to restrict development is limited to 
those set out currently in footnote 9 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (so 
these are no longer presented as examples), 
with the addition of Ancient Woodland and 

Yes.  This is clearer.  However, it is important that central Government 
takes a whole Government and ‘joined up’ approach to delivering the 
principles of sustainable development.  At a local level Leeds City Council 
has adopted a “Compassionate City” model, where by ‘good growth’, 
environmental protection and enhancement and supporting vulnerable 
communities are concurrent priorities.  

P
age 30



 

 
 

aged or veteran trees? 
4b Do you agree with the proposals to amend 

the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development so that its considerations are 
re-ordered and numbered, the opening text is 
simplified and specific references to local 
plans are removed? 

Yes. Subject to comments above. 
 

5 Do you agree that regulations should be 
amended so that all local planning authorities 
are able to dispose of land with the benefit of 
planning consent which they have granted to 
themselves? 

 

Yes.  Leeds as a unitary authority already has the power to do this.   
 
LCC Recommendation 
In already having the power to do this the City Council takes a proactive 
approach to de-risking the planning status of the sites it owns e.g. through 
a Housing Investment Land Strategy and would recommend this as an 
approach across two-tier authorities.   

6 How could land pooling make a more 
effective contribution to assembling land, and 
what additional powers or capacity would 
allow local authorities to play a more active 
role in land assembly (such as where 
‘ransom strips’ delay or prevent 
development)? 

 

It is considered that this would be useful.  The City Council has already 
encouraged pooling of land and use of the equalisation of land value in a 
major urban expansion to the East of Leeds.  This is requiring use of 
Supplementary Planning Documents. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
The Government could make it easier to achieve positive planning 
outcomes in this area as follows: 
 

 national guidance should ensure that local planning authorities can – 
via plan-making and allocation of sites – set the geographies at 
which place-making should occur i.e. the red-line boundaries within 
which comprehensive planning applications should come forward.  
This should help LPAs resist applications for piecemeal parcels of 
land.   

 
 where within specific boundaries, landowners are preventing 

development coming forward and are constraining better place-

P
age 31



 

 
 

making, LPAs need robust CPO powers to ensure that large scale 
allocations can be delivered swiftly and comprehensively. 

 
 the Government should reflect that ransom strips often exist outside 

of the main developable part of sites e.g. for access to main 
highways network.   

 
 the City Council recommends that Government re-defines a more 

reasonable and narrower level of uplift in land values for ransom 
strips at which owners must be compelled to bring forward land as 
part of wider comprehensive development proposals.   

7 Do you agree that national policy should be 
amended to encourage local planning 
authorities to consider the social and 
economic benefits of estate regeneration 
when preparing their plans and in decisions 
on applications, and use their planning 
powers to help deliver estate regeneration to 
a high standard? 

 

Yes.  It should be a priority ambition of Local Plans with areas in need of 
regeneration.  In Leeds our planning policies already prioritise the physical, 
economic and social regeneration of our housing estates, which contain 
some of the country’s most deprived areas as measured on the index of 
Multiple Deprivation.  Planning policy is not a barrier to our regeneration 
interventions in these neighbourhoods, it is the marginal market locations of 
our estates and the viability challenges to attracting commercial investment 
that prevent the renewal that is required through new development, new 
housing choices and refresh of social and physical infrastructure.  Many 
estates are in low land value areas where the availability of land and de-
risking of its development potential is simply not enough to encourage 
private sector interest. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
Estate regeneration should be more clearly defined in planning terms to 
avoid conflation with ‘comprehensive redevelopment’, which can have the 
effect of fracturing and dispersing long standing resident communities, 
breaking social ties and does not deal with many of the underlying issues 
which have led to the experience of social and economic isolation that 
regeneration should seek to address.   
 

P
age 32



 

 
 

Central government funding should recognise this distinction and the need 
for interventions that retain and improve the best aspects of our estates 
alongside sensitive targeted capital and revenue programmes that support 
existing communities.   
 
Greater support could be made available to help in building capacity around 
the Neighbourhood Planning activities that would establish community-led 
ambitions for change, which if supported by programmes to address health, 
skills, connectivity and employment will directly address the causes and 
consequences of deprivation, as a more sustainable approach to estate 
regeneration. 

8a Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to 
highlight the opportunities that neighbourhood 
plans present for identifying and allocating 
small sites that are suitable for housing? 

Yes.  This is already embedded in neighbourhood planning provisions and 
proposals are coming forward on at least one NP. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
The key issue is where NPs are resistant to development and wish to limit 
change.  It is difficult for LPAs to dictate the pace and scope of NP 
preparation – as they are necessarily community led.  

8b Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to 
encourage local planning authorities to identify 
opportunities for villages to thrive, especially 
where this would support services and help 
meet the authority’s housing needs? 

Yes in principle. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
  It is unclear what additional provisions the HWP is suggesting.  Such 
development needs to be set within the wider spatial strategy - and existing 
NPPF core principles - of a LPA which should still direct housing 
development to those areas with greatest land supply (especially on 
previously developed land) and access to services.     

8c Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to give 
stronger support for ‘rural exception’ sites – to 
make clear that these should be considered 
positively where they can contribute to local 
housing needs, even if it relies on an element 

Yes in principle.  This would allow for a more flexible and pragmatic 
approach to those NPs who wish to allocate sites but are not in a position 
to align their plan-making timetable with that of upper-tier plans.   
 
It is unclear where the evidence for general market housing as a stimulus to 
deliver local housing needs comes from.  This is considered to be too 

P
age 33



 

 
 

of general market housing to ensure that 
homes are genuinely affordable for local 
people? 
 

specific a situation to write into national policy and should be left to 
individual LPAs and NPs to determine subject to a local evidence base – 
otherwise pressure on rural land around smaller settlements would be 
intense.     
 
LCC Recommendation 
Suggest that policy includes reference to “small-scale” rural exception sites. 

8d Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to make 
clear that on top of the allowance made for 
windfall sites, at least 10% of sites allocated 
for residential development in local plans 
should be sites of half a hectare or less? 

Yes.  25% of allocated sites in the Leeds Site Allocations Plan are <0.4ha – 
the majority of these are on previously developed land.  The City Council 
acknowledges the intent to have a mix of sites available so as to boost 
housing delivery but advises that this in itself will not always be a stimulus 
for delivery especially where they are in areas in need of regeneration.   
 

8e Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to expect 
local planning authorities to work with 
developers to encourage the sub-division of 
large sites? 
 
 

Yes.  It is currently very difficult to affect change in the number of outlets 
housebuilders will develop on a site at a given time.  In this way the supply 
of houses can sometimes be “drip fed” onto the housing market, which 
keeps prices high but delivery rates low.  It also has the dis-benefit of local 
construction activity for far longer periods than is necessary. 
 
To truly affect change there is a need to encourage sub-division with 
landowners at an early stage before a developer is identified so that 
landowners are clear that the expectation is that they will work with a 
variety of developers to achieve swift build out i.e. volume, small and 
medium enterprise, specialist e.g. pre-fabricated development or meeting 
specific needs.     
 
LCC Recommendation     
National policy should establish clear guidelines on minimum number of 
outlets and phasing for large sites (in liaison with the Homes and 
Communities Agency) so that Local Plans can be far more certain as to 
housing trajectories where a number of large sites are included in Plans.   
 

P
age 34



 

 
 

Sub-division between types of housing developer and product is also 
important, including provision for custom and self-build and consideration of 
other local specialist housing requirements.  It is difficult for smaller or 
specialist housebuilders to access land in high and medium market areas 
as these sites are often in the hands of the volume sector via strategic land 
holdings and options purchased from landowners.   
 
The remaining land, often previously developed land, can be achieved 
because of the flexible models of the SME sector, but requires borrowing at 
flexible rates.  Potential for additional cross-subsidy from higher value 
housing delivery i.e. parcels of land within larger sites would assist the 
business models of the small builder.  
 
In the same way as planning policy is used to encourage delivery 
affordable housing the Government should consider planning guidance to 
provide LPAs with stronger tools to deliver different products and types of 
housing especially on large sites.  These could be via planning obligations, 
CPO or voluntary sale of land at pre-defined rates relevant to the local 
market and housing needs.   

8f Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to 
encourage greater use of Local Development 
Orders and area-wide design codes so that 
small sites may be brought forward for 
development more quickly? 

Yes, but in principle the experiences in Leeds are that planning is not the 
impediment to bringing smaller sites forward, rather access to finance. 
However, the City Council recognises that planning delay / costs impacts 
smaller builders disproportionately and these proposals would help to 
reduce uncertainty.     

9 How could streamlined planning procedures 
support innovation and high quality 
development in new garden towns and 
villages? 
 

As part of a plan-led approach, the City Council are supportive of new 
garden towns and villages and have identified a new settlement in its Site 
Allocations Plan.  There is a need to recognise that new settlements are a 
valid option for authorities in the North of England; and it was disappointing 
not to see any such sites in the first phase of the Government’s recent 
Garden Village and Towns prospectus.   
 

P
age 35



 

 
 

Such sites should also not be seen as ‘additional’ to identified housing 
needs but a chief means of delivering them amongst other mechanisms  
Streamlined planning at the plan-making stage should not remove the need 
for sites to be assessed alongside reasonable alternatives.  Streamlined 
planning may assist in the speed of delivery of such sites, but it needs to be 
recognised that such sites are rarely stand-alone and without local impact.  
To that end, the current system enables existing local communities to 
engage with proposals e.g. to seek shared infrastructure benefits.   
Moreover, the speed of delivery is more likely going to be related to the 
number and type of house builders (including self-build / custom-build; 
modern methods of construction opportunities) which the developers 
support at any one time and up front delivery of key infrastructure to help 
build at place.   

10a Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to make 
clear that authorities should amend Green Belt 
boundaries only when they can demonstrate 
that they have examined fully all other 
reasonable options for meeting their identified 
development requirements?   

Yes.  But more clarity is needed on definition of ‘reasonable options’.  
There is a danger that too many tests are being applied to proposals which 
can lead to challenge and confusion e.g. footnote 11 of the NPPF requires 
variously that sites are “suitable”, “deliverable” and “developable” for 
different purposes.  The test of “reasonable” should clearly relate to 
existing Framework tests otherwise this will be the focus of continued legal 
challenge which will slow the system down.  Government should also re-
emphasise what the purpose of Green Belt is.   
 
LCC Recommendation 
To align with footnote 11 of the Framework authorities should amend 
Green Belt boundaries only when they can demonstrate that they have 
examined fully all other developable options for meeting their identified 
development requirements.   
 
The Government should amend the NPPF to include previous wording in 
PPS2 that  “Their protection must be maintained as far as can be seen 
ahead” and “Green Belts can shape patterns of urban development at sub-
regional and regional scale, and help to ensure that development occurs in 

P
age 36



 

 
 

locations allocated in development plans”.  This will assist in providing 
clarity to plan users that Green Belts although permanent may change over 
longer time periods. 

10b Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to make 
clear that where land is removed from the 
Green Belt, local policies should require 
compensatory improvements to the 
environmental quality or accessibility of 
remaining Green Belt land?  

No.  Green Belt is not solely about landscape and countryside quality but 
about openness and amenity.   Such measures would have to be justified 
but not seen as instead of other requirements, to make development 
acceptable.  Such an approach could help with Green 
Infrastructure/improve access for recreation, infrastructure provision etc. 
 

10c Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to make 
clear that appropriate facilities for existing 
cemeteries should not to be regarded as 
‘inappropriate development’ in the Green Belt?  

Yes.  But would depend on particular circumstances. 

10d Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to make 
clear that development brought forward under 
a Neighbourhood Development Order should 
not be regarded as inappropriate in the Green 
Belt, provided it preserves openness and does 
not conflict with the purposes of the Green 
Belt? 

Yes.  But depends on nature of development & impacts.  It will also need to 
be driven through a Neighbourhood Plan with community buy in. 
 

10e Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to make 
clear that where a local or strategic plan has 
demonstrated the need for Green Belt 
boundaries to be amended, the detailed 
boundary may be determined through a 
neighbourhood plan (or plans) for the area in 
question? 

Yes.  However, more consideration is required as to how this will operate in 
practice and where identified needs can be met for local areas in NPs.  The 
Council understands the Government’s intention to remove the difficulties 
of timing and alignment of NPs with Local Plan process allowing NPs – 
these are being experienced in Leeds as it progresses 35 NPs at the same 
time as a Site Allocations Plan.     
 
 
 

P
age 37



 

 
 

LCC Recommendation  
Policy change needs to reflect that a Green Belt has been established. 

10f Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to make 
clear that when carrying out a Green Belt 
review, local planning authorities should look 
first at using any Green Belt land which has 
been previously developed and/or which 
surrounds transport hubs? 

No.  The scope to use previously developed land in the Green Belt is 
already established in national guidance.  The scale and development 
potential arising from such locations would be considered through the plan-
making stage (or a selective review), which enables issues such as the 
effective use of land and active management of patterns of growth which 
make the fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling to be 
considered.  There is already through this route an option to focus 
significant development in locations which are or can be made sustainable. 
It is suggested that the practical implications of this approach also need to 
be worked through.  A standard national approach may result in small scale 
and isolated locations coming forward. 

11 Are there particular options for accommodating 
development that national policy should expect 
authorities to have explored fully before Green 
Belt boundaries are amended, in addition to 
the ones set out above? 
 

Yes, greater incentives or penalties for not developing brownfield sites in 
urban areas (within adjacent to communities/identified housing 
need/transport hubs etc).  Delivery is often precluded by anticipated hope 
values and business models/viability arguments – in the Leeds experience, 
strong public/political perception that such brownfield opportunities have 
not been fully exhausted. 

12a Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to 
indicate that local planning authorities should 
provide neighbourhood planning groups with a 
housing requirement figure, where this is 
sought? 
 

Yes.  In principle NP groups should be able to have a housing requirement 
figure but the Council has concerns with the methodological approach to 
this. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
If the Government suggests that there should be a purely “bottom-up” 
approach to the setting of housing requirements this has many difficulties 
and may ultimately be impossible with the data sets available.  First, true 
local need cannot be captured at the neighbourhood level since those who 
cannot afford to live in a neighbourhood area will not be reflected and 
where neighbourhood areas have skewed demographic make-up it will be 
unclear as to how this may be remedied – local choice or standardised 
make-up of neighbourhoods.   Second, neighbourhood plan areas are too 

P
age 38



 

 
 

small to get meaningful data and do not align with the Office of National 
Statistics data on household and population growth – it will therefore be 
difficult for neighbourhood areas to ensure that they are meeting their entire 
future needs.  Third, as a consequence local based methods e.g. surveys, 
aggregated data down to local area will not reflect true needs and will be 
statistically flawed.   
 
If the Government is suggesting that once set, a LPA OAN can be 
subdivided to the level of the individual neighbourhood plan area; again this 
is very difficult.  Distributing need per neighbourhood area would mean that 
(whether a Neighbourhood Plan was active in an area or not) LPAs would 
need to break up its authority into small scale constituent parts.  Each part 
would vary in terms of its constraints and opportunities (suitable land 
supply, access to services and infrastructure etc). Such an approach would 
be in danger of setting too much housing in the least sustainable and most 
constrained parts of an authority and not enough where the land supply and 
access to jobs was located.  Therefore such an approach would need to be 
subject to planning checks and balances over a considerable number of 
neighbourhood areas.  Only in this manner could a fair and comparative 
assessment of needs across an authority be undertaken.  This would be 
unduly convoluted and it is for this reason that most LPAs chose to carry 
out housing market sub-area analysis of need which is more 
straightforward to correlate with land supply than neighbourhood area 
analysis.    
 
Only once an OAN has been assessed, sub-area housing market work 
undertaken and policies in place to allocate land for housing development 
would a true and fair reflection of a neighbourhood plan area housing 
requirement be made available.   
 
In the City Council’s opinion this is why the current system which advises 
that NP can provide for more housing than set out in the Local Plan, is the 

P
age 39



 

 
 

best way of managing neighbourhood plan aspirations and providing clarity. 
12b Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 

National Planning Policy Framework to make 
clear that local and neighbourhood plans (at 
the most appropriate level) and more detailed 
development plan documents (such as action 
area plans) are expected to set out clear 
design expectations; and that visual tools such 
as design codes can help provide a clear basis 
for making decisions on development 
proposals? 

Yes.  Although the importance of local character is already embedded 
strongly within Leeds supplementary guidance Neighbourhoods for Living.  
Encouraging local communities engaged in plan making to consider 
detailed design would assist the development control process; communities 
able to better understand the positive attributes of their physical 
environment and make better informed inputs into development processes, 
more clarity over expectations on developers than can be provided at 
National or Local policy level.  Neighbourhood/community planning groups 
would need expert help in developing this type of policy accurately.  

12c Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to 
emphasise the importance of early pre-
application discussions between applicants, 
authorities and the local community about 
design and the types of homes to be provided? 
 

Yes.  Although this is established practice in Leeds, where the need for 
pre-application discussion is integral to the delivery of planning schemes.  
However, protracted discussions will need to be avoided, with clear and 
realistic expectations about design requirements and housing mix.  
Affordable Housing and viability are however likely to be potential issues, 
together with local community concerns about the need for further 
infrastructure to support growth, including school places and transport 
infrastructure. 

12d Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to make 
clear that design should not be used as a valid 
reason to object to development where it 
accords with clear design expectations set out 
in statutory plans? 

No.  A national policy on design is likely to be overly generic, and 
potentially become too difficult to enforce – potentially erode the strength of 
design arguments rather than assist.  It would not be possible to accurately 
devise a national policy which definitively covers the complex matters of 
site specific design.  A site by site, and proposal by proposal assessment is 
required guided by specific policies within Local Plans which have been 
influenced and examined publically and by a range of interests. 

12e Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
National Planning Policy Framework to 
recognise the value of using a widely accepted 
design standard, such as Building for Life, in 
shaping and assessing basis design principles 
– and make clear that this should be reflected 

Yes.  A reference to a nationally accepted guide to good practice in 
residential development would be supported, however, in Leeds a well-
established, respected, and heavily used supplementary guidance exists 
and any erosion in its status would be considered a backward step.  
Neighbourhoods for Living offers stronger position in terms of justifying 
design decisions through its more detailed approach in comparison to 

P
age 40



 

 
 

in plans and given weight in the planning 
process? 

national standards such as BFL which is generic to allow flexibility between 
regions and localities. 

13a Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
national policy to make clear that plans and 
individual development proposals should make 
efficient use of land and avoid building homes 
at low densities where there is a shortage of 
land for meeting identified housing needs? 

Yes.  There is an argument to address this but it needs to be supported by 
a proper design analysis on a case by case basis which has regard to 
character and amenity.  We should not be afraid to approach design and 
density differently so as to achieve high density development throughout 
cities and in rural areas.   Design should not be given as a reason to avoid 
exploration of housing typologies which assist in delivering higher densities. 
However, higher densities must still deliver good design.  Experience in 
Leeds, (and seeing development s in neighbouring authorities) is that high 
densities, combined with house builder standard approaches leads to 
standard house types with poor environments surrounding them. 
 
LCC Recommendations 
New approaches to house typologies may assist, but care must be taken in 
the wording of any text which alludes to changes in approach - ‘innovation’ 
and similar terms leads to often poor approaches justified solely by the 
need for density. 

13b Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
national policy to make clear that plans and 
individual development proposals should 
address the particular scope for higher-density 
housing in urban locations that are well served 
by public transport, that provide opportunities 
to replace low-density uses in areas of high 
housing demand, or which offer scope to 
extend buildings upwards in urban areas 

Yes.  The NPPF and planning process in general should be strengthened 
to encourage development near public transport connections, or require 
connections to be made if no suitable connection exists.  This is even more 
important for a city such as Leeds without a low carbon mass transit 
system.  Development higher densities and taller buildings should be on a 
place by place basis as there is no generic justification for either in design 
terms which can be applied nationally, or even across a district.  
Developers of sub-urban commercial schemes should be encouraged to 
develop mixed use schemes – residential above commercial etc. 

13c Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
national policy to ensure that in doing so the 
density and form of development reflect the 
character, accessibility and infrastructure 
capacity of an area, and the nature of local 

Yes. Developments must be consistent in all ways with their surroundings. 
 

P
age 41



 

 
 

housing needs? 
13d Do you agree with the proposals to amend 

national policy to take a flexible approach in 
adopting and applying policy and guidance 
that could inhibit these objectives in particular 
circumstances, such as open space provision 
in areas with good access to facilities nearby? 
 

Yes.  Higher densities will place higher demands on open space and 
therefore the requirement for provision should not be undermined.  Green 
space is an intrinsic part of the built environment and has been proven to 
have not only physical but psychological health benefits. Likely that green 
space quality & improved accessibility is needed to withstand higher 
densities.  Need to promote creative solutions/roof top gardens, use of 
green infrastructure etc.  Also, need also to have regard to air quality/public 
health issues – currently high on agenda. 

14 In what types of location would indicative 
minimum density standards be helpful, and 
what should those standards be? 
 

LCC Recommendation 
It is difficult to generalise and to be nationally prescriptive on this issue.  
New development needs to be assimilated into an existing context, which is 
derived from its established character, identity and density.  These can be 
complex and vary across a local authority area and it would make sense 
therefore that the approach to this matter be determined locally rather than 
via a national ‘standard’ or criteria.  However, opportunities do need to be 
taken however to making the best use of urban land in sustainable and 
accessible locations, especially in relation to transport hubs and 
infrastructure. 

15 What are your views on the potential for 
delivering additional homes through more 
intensive use of existing public sector sites, or 
in urban locations more generally, and how this 
can best be supported through planning (using 
tools such as policy, local development orders, 
and permitted development rights)? 
 

No.  The City Council would consider existing arrangements which 
encourage consideration of sites on their individual merits lead to better 
development outcomes rather than standardised approaches to intensive / 
high density development for public sector sites.   
 
The inference here is that simply because sites are in public ownership 
there could be a lessening of achievement of planning policy requirements.   
 
There is a need for a joined up local authority approach 
regeneration/planning/asset management/legal/children’s services etc – but 
will still need private sector input (as a strategic partner and service 
provision). 
 

P
age 42



 

 
 

Permitted development rights coupled with weaken design will lead to a 
legacy of poor quality development.   

16a Do you agree that where local planning 
authorities wish to agree their housing land 
supply for a one-year period, national policy 
should require those authorities to maintain a 
10% buffer on their 5 year housing land 
supply? 
 

No.  A 10% buffer would be a possible third buffer to be applied to an 
authorities housing supply and it is unclear what the rationale for such a 
buffer would be.  It would result in a more (not less) complex assessment – 
why would an authority with a 5% buffer see any value in fixing its supply 
for a year?  How could an authority with a marginal 5YS (plus 5%) fix for a 
year if additional land (for 10%) was required from sites subject to plan-
making review?  Given the complexities for many authorities in deriving an 
annual 5YS it is considered that a one-year period should be the standard 
time period for a 5YS in any event.  Consequently, it is considered that 
opportunities should be taken to clarify and streamline the current approach 
– to allow for local flexibility, rather than introducing additional technical and 
time limited requirements. 

16b Do you agree that The Planning Inspectorate 
should consider and agree an authority’s 
assessment of its housing supply for the 
purpose of this policy?  
 

No.  This would be an additionally onerous layer to an already complex 
procedure.   
 
LCC Recommendation 
The Planning Inspectorate could usefully agree an authority’s methodology 
and approach to housing supply at a convenient Development Plan 
opportunity e.g. Core Strategy or Allocations.  For those authorities not 
covered by this and in tandem, more detailed technical guidance on land 
supply is needed which captures lessons learnt from the implementation of 
the NPPF and a significant amount of case law.  This clarity would assist 
authorities deal with those who have an interest in de-railing a local 
authority’s supply position for their own site preferences.      
 
This guidance should apply to a range of local authorities (especially larger 
Metropolitan authorities).  For an authority like Leeds with over 1,000 sites 
in its SHLAA and around 500 in its 5 year supply the task of monitoring 
delivery of individual sites is already challenging and attempts to generalise 
have not found favour with PINS.   

P
age 43



 

 
 

16c If so, should the Inspectorate’s consideration 
focus on whether the approach pursued by the 
authority in establishing the land supply 
position is robust, or should the Inspectorate 
make an assessment of the supply figure? 

LCC Recommendation 
The City Council consider that the Inspectorate is well placed to provide 
more guidance on how a five year land supply should be calculated.  Until 
then, there will be continued time consuming delay, largely at appeal, on 
assessing a five year supply.  Additional technical guidance (possibly via 
the PPG but with more detail on good practice and more readily 
updateable) should include: 

 a reflection of case law since the NPPF 
 alternatives to testing every site within a 5YS, especially for larger 

authorities 
 approaches to take where sites are suitable and achievable in theory 

but are not being brought forward by willing landowners 
 greater direction on the appropriate buffer to be applied and how 

persistent under-delivery might be calculated  
 a greater steer on the application of the Liverpool or Sedgefield 

approaches to dealing with past under-supply, especially where 
increased supply threatens to undermine spatial strategies 

 expectations of local authorities that Government ambitions for faster 
build out rates, use of permissions, role of SMEs and self-build are 
all factors which should influence a 5YS 

 a reflection that factors which have influenced an OAN should be the 
same factors which influence likelihood of delivery – otherwise a 
disconnect between ambitious targets and pessimistic delivery will 
harm the Development Plan 

17a In taking forward the protection for 
neighbourhood plans as set out in the Written 
Ministerial Statement of 12 December 2016 
into the revised NPPF, do you agree that it 
should include a requirement for the 
neighbourhood plan to meet its share of local 
housing need? 
 

Broadly Yes. It is recognised that Neighbourhood Plans have the ability to 
do this now but out of choice, the experience in Leeds is that the majority of 
Plans do not address this issue.  In Leeds many NPs are smaller 
settlements and villages where the spatial strategy does not seek to direct 
significant numbers of new homes.  NPs can elect to deliver more housing 
to meet specific identified local needs e.g. for older persons housing or 
affordable housing.  In circumstances where a NP area is within a wider 
local area of growth, current legislation on conformity between NPs and the 

P
age 44



 

 
 

Local Plan would ensure that NPs meet their share of growth.    Given 
these uncertainties, it is likely to be unrealistic for the housing requirement 
of an entire Local Planning Authority area, to be met from a patchwork of 
Neighbourhood Plans (see 12a above).  This is especially challenging also, 
when there is not full Neighbourhood Plan coverage or ‘adoption’ within 
such areas. 
 

17b In taking forward the protection for 
neighbourhood plans as set out in the Written 
Ministerial Statement of 12 December 2016 
into the revised NPPF, do you agree that it is 
subject to the local planning authority being 
able to demonstrate through the housing 
delivery test that, from 2020, delivery has been 
over 65% (25% in 2018; 45% in 2019) for the 
wider authority area? 

See response to question 17a above. 

17c In taking forward the protection for 
neighbourhood plans as set out in the Written 
Ministerial Statement of 12 December 2016 
into the revised NPPF, should it remain a 
requirement to have site allocations in the plan 
or should the protection apply as long as 
housing supply policies will meet their share of 
local housing need? 
 

Yes.  It is the City Council’s view that, overall it is preferable to retain 
allocations.  The allocation of sites is a challenging process, through a 
Plan-led system and as a consequence, in broad terms, the retention of 
sites allow for greater flexibility and as part of a Plan-led process, it is 
difficult to react quickly if insufficient allocations are in place.  It should be 
emphasised however, that if allocations are retained, they should also be 
retained with their site phasing and planning requirements in place 
(especially where these have been determined via an adopted plan), unless 
circumstances have materially changed.  

18a What are your views on the merits of 
introducing a fee for making a planning 
appeal? We would welcome views on: how the 
fee could be designed in such a way that it did 
not discourage developers, particularly smaller 
and medium sized firms, from bringing forward 
legitimate appeals 

It is recognised that this is a difficult area.  As part of the HWP’s 
commitment to a Plan-led approach, interventions are necessary to avoid 
‘planning by appeal’, which can undermine the resource intensive nature of 
development plan preparation.  However, there is also a need for fairness 
and transparency and not to penalise smaller developers and SMEs.  The 
recommendations of the HWP do however need to urgently address the 
systematic, sustained and confrontational use of the appeal process (by 

P
age 45



 

 
 

some agents and housebuilders) to progress commercial interests, to the 
detriment of providing new homes in preferred locations via the plan-
making process.  

18b The level of the fee and whether it could be 
refunded in certain circumstances, such as 
when an appeal is successful 

See response to question 18a above.  The focus of the HWP, needs to be 
about facilitating and streamlining the process.  There is therefore a danger 
that introducing further complexity, will be a break to progress and open up 
additional areas of dispute and contention.  How would such fees be set, 
should this initiative be introduced.   

18c Whether there could be lower fees for less 
complex cases 

See response to 18b above. 

19 Do you agree with the proposal to amend 
national policy so that local planning authorities 
are expected to have planning policies setting 
out how high quality digital infrastructure will be 
delivered in their area, and accessible from a 
range of providers? 
 

Broadly Yes.  However, Government need to be very clear if this is 
intended to be an ‘ask’ of development proposals or an integral requirement 
such as drainage, electricity supply etc.  It is the Council’s view that this 
should be required as ‘basic’ infrastructure in the modern era – otherwise 
this is likely to be challenge in terms of viability or not providing other key 
requirements such as affordable homes or green space etc. Need to be 
clear what is meant by ‘digital’ infrastructure, given speed of technology?  Is 
this intended to fix exiting problems or to support new growth? Need to 
have regard to market context and different providers. 

20 Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
national policy so that: 
 The status of endorsed 
recommendations of the National Infrastructure 
Commission is made clear?; and  
 Authorities are expected to identify the 
additional development opportunities which 
strategic infrastructure improvements offer for 
making additional land available for housing?  

Yes. Needs to be made clear. Would be helpful if there could be improved 
monitoring of national infrastructure delivery, as this will have implications 
for the scale and phasing of development. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
As part of a whole Government approach to supporting housing growth 
there is need for clarity on what national infrastructure – is it to fix existing 
capacity or to plan for future growth – for what period. 
 

21a Do you agree that the planning application 
form should be amended to include a request 
for the estimated start date and build out rate 
for proposals for housing?  

Yes.   
 
LCC Recommendation 
The form should also ask for reasons if the start date is deferred. 

P
age 46



 

 
 

21b Do you agree that developers should be 
required to provide local authorities with basic 
information (in terms of actual and projected 
build out) on progress in delivering the 
permitted number of homes, after planning 
permission has been granted? 

Yes, agreed. What about penalties if delays ? 
 

21c Do you agree that the basic information 
(above) should be published as part of 
Authority Monitoring Reports? 
 

Yes, a national position needs to understood but also the information needs 
to be presented via the house building industry – what about a league table 
of performance of house builders published nationally – need for wider 
ownership and accountability – this is not just a local planning authority 
issue. 

21d Do you agree that large housebuilders should 
be required to provide aggregate information 
on build out rates? 

Yes.  Agreed, but needs to explain reasons for any deviation from rates 
previously as part of a planning consent.   
 
LCC Recommendation 
In bolstering the desire of the HWP to speed up delivery, increase 
accountability and improve performance, it would be useful if DCLG could 
provide an overall monitoring framework to track this and to introduce 
‘league tables’, to stimulate performance improvements. 

22 Do you agree that the realistic prospect that 
housing will be built on a site should be taken 
into account in the determination of planning 
applications for housing on sites where there is 
evidence of non-implementation of earlier 
permissions for housing development? 
 

Broadly Yes.  But need to be able to understand the underlying reasons, is 
it because it’s a ‘bad’ site? If so, why has permission being granted? Is it 
because of investor confidence, funding, infrastructure, unforeseen 
problems etc?  If the site is brownfield and in a sustainable location, every 
effort should be made to bring forward, otherwise there is likely to be more 
pressure on greenfield and Green Belt sites – with other options exhausted 
or ruled out. 

23 We would welcome views on whether an 
applicant’s track record of delivering previous, 
similar housing schemes should be taken into 
account by local authorities when determining 
planning applications for housing development. 

Yes.  An applicant’s track record should be taken into account, but see Q. 
22 above and 24 below.  The reasons for any delay will be pertinent to 
future decision making.   

24 If this proposal were taken forward, do you Yes.  This is an important issue but national planning guidance will need to 

P
age 47



 

 
 

agree that the track record of an applicant 
should only be taken into account when 
considering proposals for large scale sites, so 
as not to deter new entrants to the market? 
 

be clear on how ‘track record’ is defined and the evidential basis upon 
which this might be assessed.  A key issue in Leeds, is that whilst the City 
Council is committed to housing growth and delivery, the level of 
completions falls short of expectations and that build out rates are often 
determined by marketing, sales strategies, business models and industry 
capacity, rather than planning policies or conditions.  Whilst ‘track record’ 
might be an issue, greater clarity is needed for what this means in practice 
when a housing provider has not adequately performed.  A fundamental 
objective of the White Paper is to deliver the homes that are needed, rather 
than local authorities being put in the position of putting perceived barriers 
in the way.  Any penalties and interventions therefore need to be set 
nationally, as a basis to improve delivery and the performance of all 
providers.  
 
In terms of new entrants to the market, these need to be encouraged but 
the recommendations arising from the HWP need to be more explicit about 
the expectations, roles, responsibility and accountability for the volume 
housebuilders which currently dominate the market. 

25 What are your views on whether local 
authorities should be encouraged to shorten 
the timescales for developers to implement a 
permission for housing development from three 
years to two years, except where a shorter 
timescale could hinder the viability or 
deliverability of a scheme? We would 
particularly welcome views on what such a 
change would mean for SME developers. 

LCC Recommendation 
The City Council would like evidence to understand the impact of this and 
suggest that this approach is piloted.  Whilst a shorter timescale may be 
promoted as a stimulus to development, some agents, investors and 
developers may argue that this is problematic if in at a low point in the 
economic cycle and more recovery time is needed.  

26 Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
legislation to simplify and speed up the 
process of serving a completion notice by 
removing the requirement for the Secretary of 
State to confirm a completion notice before it 

Broadly Yes. Initiatives to encourage greater efficiency and streamlining 
are to be broadly welcomed.  However, a simple transfer of responsibility 
away from the SOS to Local Planning Authorities will be problematic, 
unless new and funded local authority resources are put in place.  
 

P
age 48



 

 
 

can take effect? 
 

27 What are your views on whether we should 
allow local authorities to serve a completion 
notice on a site before the commencement 
deadline has elapsed, but only where works 
have begun? What impact do you think this will 
have on lenders’ willingness to lend to 
developers? 
 

“Completion” for the purposes of calculating housing delivery, needs to 
mean completion of the new homes built on the ground.  It is not clear what 
this would mean for lenders in stimulating development. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
Suggest this initiative be piloted to assess its impact and also the views of 
lenders assessed, in order to consider the implications for investment 
decisions.  

28a Do you agree that for the purposes of 
introducing a housing delivery test, national 
guidance should make clear that the baseline 
for assessing housing delivery should be a 
local planning authority’s annual housing 
requirement where this is set out in an up-to-
date plan? 
 

Yes.  But the test should also reflect the reasons for the lack of delivery.  
As the PPG currently sets out these may not be exclusively around land 
supply and may involve wider market issues.  For example, in Leeds 
despite having a large stock of land with permission completions were 
hampered by the mortgage market review in 2015. 
 
LCC Recommendation 
Reflect that factors other than land supply can influence a LPAs 
performance on delivery.   
 
 

28b Do you agree that for the purposes of 
introducing a housing delivery test, national 
guidance should make clear that the baseline 
where no local plan is in place should be the 
published household projections until 2018/19, 
with the new standard methodology for 
assessing housing requirements providing the 
baseline thereafter?  
 

No.  However, this might have some merit if targeted.  It needs to be 
understood however, why a local plan is not in place.  This could be due to 
a wide range of factors including a holding direction (beyond the scope of a 
local authority) or because of the need to await the conclusion of major 
infrastructure decisions.  Local authorities should not be unduly penalised 
through a further performance regime (on top of an already complex 
system), where they are seeking to work through a challenging Plan-led 
process and where there are legitimate reasons in place for any delay.  
 
Government should ensure that the methodology is reasonable and 
realistic and take account of changes to the market.  The onus should not 

P
age 49



 

 
 

just be on the local authority to monitor performance – structural changes 
are needed in the house building industry, to improve the performance of 
home builders e.g. policies for minimum proportions of different types of 
dwelling and different models of construction, modern methods of 
construction (modular build), opportunities for self- and custom-build within 
volume house builder schemes and monitoring of these. 
 

28c Do you agree that for the purposes of 
introducing a housing delivery test, national 
guidance should make clear that net annual 
housing additions should be used to measure 
housing delivery? 

Yes.  Provided that reasons for any under delivery are fully understood.  
Increasing the supply of housing will not necessarily lead to more delivery, 
only delivery on the sites the volume sector have an interest in; which are 
not necessarily those which are compliant with local strategy, need and 
aspirations.   

28d Do you agree that for the purposes of 
introducing a housing delivery test, national 
guidance should make clear that delivery will 
be assessed over a rolling three year period, 
starting with 2014/15 – 2016/17? 

Yes.  Attempts to average out performance are welcomed. 
 

29 Do you agree that the consequences for 
under-delivery should be: 

a) From November 2017, an expectation 
that local planning authorities prepare an 
action plan where delivery falls below 
95% of the authorities annual housing 
requirement? 

b) From November 2017, a 20% buffer on 
top of the requirement to maintain a five 
year housing land supply where delivery 
falls below 85%? 

c) From November 2018, application of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable 
development where delivery falls below 

No.  Despite the stated complexities of the housing market and the roles 
and responsibilities of housing providers (SMEs, volume house builders, 
LPAs etc) the onus of this approach, penalties and accountability is 
squarely with the LPA.  This is not reasonable.  
 
The ramping up of progressive LPA penalties does not fundamentally 
address the structural failure of the industry (the broken market the HWP is 
seeking to fix).  Local authorities do need to be brought to task if the 
development plan is not in place but this is one component of the overall 
position. 
 

P
age 50



 

 
 

25%? 
d) From November 2019, application of the 

presumption in favour of sustainable 
development where delivery falls below 
45%?; and  

e) From November 2020, application of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable 
development where delivery falls below 
65%? 

30 What support would be most helpful to local 
planning authorities in increasing housing 
delivery in their areas? 
 

Leeds has the largest annual housing delivery target of any local authority 
and last year delivered 3,296 new homes, the highest delivery rate of any 
core city.  However recent planning application appeal decisions against 
the Council on several greenfield sites have resulted in the Council’s 
position on 5 year land supply being rejected, partly on the basis of past 
under delivery against annual targets and concerns that many of our 
brownfield City Centre/Inner sites wouldn’t deliver as quickly as projected in 
our SHLAA. 
 
However, one of the issues facing Leeds is the marked difference between 
the number of sites with planning approval and the number of starts – 
around 1 in 7 planning approvals for new residential development are 
converted into delivery.  Achieving planning approval is not a barrier to 
housing growth.  Market confidence and viability are the key issues. 
 
It is clear to us that the acceleration of housing development of the right 
quantity, in the right places, to the right quality and offering the right choice 
of size, form and tenure will be central to the properly planned, sustainable 
growth of our city.  To drive the necessary growth we need to unlock and 
regenerate central and inner parts of our city, where despite success in 
realising commercial, retail and leisure development, residential schemes 
have not been implemented with the same pace as the first phase of city 

P
age 51



 

 
 

living in the early-mid 2000’s and there is a need to drive forward a new 
wave of residential development, including the new models of PRS.  
Traction here will deliver schemes with high densities that will contribute to 
a step change in our growth trajectory.  New approaches and sources of 
funding or investment are required that will bring forward the key 
interventions to stimulate accelerated residential development by removing 
barriers to growth in these areas and allow a return to pre-recession rates 
of delivery.   
 
We have identified 5 ways in which Government support and flexibility 
would help us do this: 
 
1. Patient public investment and grant funding to make a positive impact 

on market confidence, viability and deliverability.  Government should 
recognise the need to target the right form of support to privately-led 
residential sites and schemes with a move away from ‘impatient’ fully 
recoverable investments towards more flexible funding that plays a 
longer game on returns. 

2. Investment in infrastructure and public realm.  This has a significant 
part to play in creating underlying market confidence and the 
acceleration of wider investment. Creating a funding offer to enable a 
co-ordinated approach between the public and private sector players 
that have a genuine interest in place making to support existing and 
new investments can unlock opportunities and create the investment 
landscape for new homes and related amenities. 

3. Site acquisitions and land assembly.  Across Leeds there are many 
sites in the ownership of companies or individuals who do not have 
the capacity, resources or willingness to bring these forward for 
development.  Equally, there are many sites with extant planning 
permissions but often these serve only to maintain a book value for 
owners rather than providing a route towards meaningful 
implementation and delivery.   Leeds City Council is undertaking its 

P
age 52



 

 
 

own programme of engagement and support with these owners to 
accelerate delivery but government funding or underwriting of 
acquisition and CPO costs would enable the Council to be more 
proactive in assembling land and bringing sites to more willing 
development partners 

4. De-risking and site preparation.  Brownfield sites with a legacy of 
contamination or relic structures from past industrial uses pose 
technical and viability challenges require de-risking interventions to 
enable future development, which may range from simple assistance 
such as desk top and intrusive surveys to more intensive work to 
remediate and prepare sites for investment.  Availability of flexible ‘no 
strings’ funding to assist this would be beneficial to help bring a 
greater number of sites to a point at which development viability can 
be confirmed or investment secured. 

5. Unlocking the delivery of affordable and social housing.  Leeds is mid-
way through a programme of delivering its own programme of 1,000 
new affordable homes by 2020 but more could be done to stimulate 
further local authority investment and through changes to government 
policy to enable home ownership for those on lower incomes.  
Support could include: removal of restrictions on borrowing through 
the Housing Revenue Account so that the Council itself can build at 
scale equivalent to its underlying HRA strength; enabling full retention 
of Right to Buy receipts by local authorities to be dedicated to new 
build replacement stock; support and policy flexibilities to enable the 
development of models enabling tenants to ‘rent to buy’; maximising 
local flexibility in defining and delivering a mixed package of 
affordable housing, including Starter Homes, with reference to local 
market conditions and affordability criteria 

31 Do you agree with our proposals to: 
a) Amend national policy to revise the 

definition of affordable housing as set out 
in Box 4?  

No. Whilst starter homes are welcomed as a low cost housing product to 
assist first time buyers there is concern in relation to the impact of the 
proposals on affordable housing. Definitions of affordable housing should 
always relate to products that are affordable in perpetuity, which benefit 

P
age 53



 

 
 

b) Introduce an income cap for starter 
homes? 

c) Incorporate a definition of affordable 
private rent housing? 

d) Allow for a transitional period that aligns 
with other proposals in the White Paper 
(April 2018)? 

 

future users, unless subject to other legislative requirements such as right 
to buy. The HWP proposes a 15 year repayment period for starter homes 
which does not provide perpetuity. In particular there will be an impact on 
affordable housing targets set out in Policy H5 of the Core Strategy as 
developers will prefer to provide starter homes over affordable housing. An 
income cap for starter homes is supported, as is a transitional period. 
 
It is our understanding that the build to rent model is a different financial 
model and is broadly welcomed by the Council as an additional source of 
supply.  The HWP reference to affordable housing is broadly in the grain of 
current definitions and subject to fulfilling in-perpetuity requirements the 
City Council would be willing to discuss this model with institutions and 
developers.   
 
This flexible approach of the City Council is one which is being adopted in 
the City Centre to deliver mixed communities.       
 
There is a danger that this would lead to an even more complicated 
approach, bogged down by semantics, what we need is solutions and 
higher housing outputs. All the homes described are wider aspects of 
Affordable Housing. Would it be easier to describe the typology and an 
affordable housing ladder – which is focused on delivery and output – 
whatever rung of the ladder? 
 

32a Do you agree that national planning policy 
should expect local planning authorities to 
seek a minimum of 10% of all homes on 
individual sites for affordable home ownership 
products?  

No.  The NPPF needs to work for every part of the country and not simply 
the over-heated housing market of the south east.  Therefore a more 
flexible approach is needed.  Local viability issues need to be reflected at 
the plan-making stage.  There is also a need to allow flexibility in the tenure 
of affordable homes; again driven by local aspirations and needs.    
 
LCC Recommendation 
There is a need for a clear statement that affordable housing is required to 

P
age 54



 

 
 

be provided from new development and that precise levels, types and 
tenures is a matter for the Local Plan and its evidence base to determine.   
  

32b Do you agree that this policy should only apply 
to developments of over 10 units or 0.5ha? 

No.  Some smaller sites may have sufficient viability to deliver affordable 
housing subject to local circumstances.  This blanket approach would stifle 
achievement of affordable housing in rural areas or lead to pressure to 
allocate larger sites which may not be as sustainable. 

33 Should any particular types of residential 
development be excluded from this policy? 

Yes.  100% affordable housing schemes should be exempt. 
 

34 Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
national policy to make clear that the reference 
to the three dimensions of sustainable 
development, together with the core planning 
principles and policies at paragraphs 18-219 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework, 
together constitute the Government’s view of 
what sustainable development means for the 
planning system in England? 
 

No.  The HWP sets out a very weak model of sustainability, which simply 
seeks to balance competing objectives, rather than genuinely facilitating 
step changes and positive (measurable) outcomes within the 
environmental, social and economic objectives.   
 
LCC Recommendation 
More needs to be done to dramatically reduce resource consumption and 
respect environmental limits.  Agreed comparative measures of such limits 
would help create baselines against which Local Plans can operate.  
Lessons from eco-systems services approaches to planning have been lost 
since the global recession and could provide a useful starting point for a 
more meaningful balance between environmental and other objectives.  
Leeds City Council is committed to a model of ‘good economic growth’ 
within a compassionate City, where financial and health inequalities are 
major issues and are being reflected in plan-making and decision taking. 
 

35a Do you agree with the proposals to amend the 
national policy to amend the list of climate 
change factors to be considered during plan-
making, to include reference to rising 
temperatures?  

Yes in principle, but need more clarity on how this might apply. 

35b Do you agree with the proposals to amend 
national policy to make clear that local 

Yes.   However, it is unclear from the HWP what this means in practice.  
Current evidence indicates that climate change implications need to be 

P
age 55



 

 
 

planning policies should support measures for 
the future resilience of communities and 
infrastructure to climate change? 
 

addressed with greater pace and scale.  Considerable investment needs to 
be made in resilience for communities so as to improve investor confidence 
and ensure infrastructure security prior to comprehensive growth.   
 
 

36 Do you agree with these proposals to clarify 
flood risk in the National Planning Policy 
Framework? 

 

Yes.  These are key national and local imperatives which are reflected in 
Local Plans already.  
 
LCC Recommendation 
Clarity is needed on the financing and phasing of flood risk interventions for 
catchments so as to accommodate housing growth.   
 

37 Do you agree with the proposal to amend 
national policy to emphasise that planning 
policies and decisions should take account of 
existing businesses when locating new 
development nearby and, where necessary, to 
mitigate the impact of noise and other potential 
nuisances arising from existing development. 
 

Yes.  Local business amenity (like residential amenity) tends to already be 
embedded in existing policy and decision taking good practice.  It is unclear 
whether the White Paper is also concerned with residential amenity.   
 
LCC Recommendation 
The Government should ensure that housing growth ambitions set out in 
the WP are carried out within a considered approach to “place making” and 
respecting the amenity of existing residents and businesses.  Good design, 
community involvement with plan-making and decision taking (rather than 
speculative development) and front loading of infrastructure (including 
green infrastructure) can assist residential amenity.  
 

38 Do you agree that in incorporating the Written 
Ministerial Statement on wind energy 
development into paragraph 98 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, no transition 
period should be included? 
 
 
 

Wind energy need to be integral to the energy mix – many communities 
would see this as preferable to fracking, nuclear and ongoing reliance on 
fossil fuel. 
 

P
age 56



 

 
 

 LCC Additional Points 
 

 

 A whole Government Approach to Housing 
Growth 
 
A number of major housing schemes, 
economic development and infrastructure 
projects in Leeds (including the East Leeds 
Extension and Thorpe Park) are predicated on 
the need for new roads, rail connections and 
public transport provision to be in place 
 

LCC Recommendation 
 
For a “whole Government” and ‘joined – up’ partnership approach to be in 
place, to support housing growth. This will entail the Department for 
Transport, DCLG, the Homes and Communities Agency, Highways 
England, Network Rail, service providers and operators, to take a proactive 
and timely approach, to facilitating the urgent delivery of major growth 
projects.  This needs to be an outcome focussed approach to problem 
solving.  This should also facilitate opportunities for statutory “single issues” 
consultees to support the overall housing agenda.   

 Infrastructure provision & Delivery 
 
Whilst the HWP expressed a broad 
commitment to the need for infrastructure 
(including digital) and utilities, there is little 
detail or clarity on measures or step changes 
to improve provision or agreed timetables for 
delivery.  In Leeds, through the preparation of 
the development plan, key issues have arisen 
regarding the provision of new school places, 
medical facilities and highways infrastructure to 
support housing growth.  These are key 
issues, where timely, planned and integrated 
solutions are necessary. 
 

LCC Recommendation 
 
For the HWP recommendations to be more explicit about interventions and 
funded solutions to deliver, priority local infrastructure projects (including 
schools, medical facilities, highways and public transport) to support 
housing growth.  This needs to be set within the context of the ‘whole 
Government approach’, described above. 

 Viability 
 
Many of the proposals in this report rely on the 
development industry to amend their models of 
delivery so as to speed up delivery and meet 

LCC Recommendation 
 
Many of the suggestions in the HWP for a more diverse housing market 
with a greater number of players delivering different types of housing can 
be achieved only if there is clarity in the approach to assessing viability and 

P
age 57



 

 
 

specific needs for local housing aspirations.  
The HWP does not seek to amend the 
approach set out in the NPPF that where policy 
requirements affect viability it is difficult for 
local authorities to implement them.     
 

the attitudes of the different housebuilding sectors to this.  Moreover, 
changes above to the calculation of a 5 year supply depend on attitudes to 
viability from different house builders.  The Government should seek to 
standardise the methodology for assessing viability, taking into account the 
experiences of local planning authorities so that authorities have a clear 
expectation that initiatives such as parcelling up larger sites, promoting self 
and custom build and requiring modern methods of construction can be 
justified at a plan-making and decision-taking stage.      

 Environment & Sustainable Development 
 
Whilst the City Council understands and 
appreciates the Government’s desire for more 
homes to be built more quickly, the HWP 
needs to state more explicitly that the 
environmental impact and overall sustainable 
development of new homes, are integral to the 
delivery of these objectives.  These 
considerations are especially important in a 
complex Metropolitan District such as Leeds, 
which has a distinctive settlement pattern, 
containing community areas, each with their 
own identity and with differing economic, social 
and environmental opportunities and 
challenges.  
 

 
 
For the HWP and subsequent interventions to recognise that housing 
growth and delivery, should not be seen in isolation of the need for such 
development to have regard to local environmental impacts and the need to 
achieve the economic, social and environmental objectives of sustainable 
development, at the same time.  Consequently, in the provision of new 
homes, place-making and place-shaping, are fundamentally important 
considerations, as well as seeking to increase housing numbers. 

P
age 58



 

 
 

EB Appendix 2: Background Papers & Technical consultation – 
Leeds City Council Response 

Review of the Community Infrastructure Levy 

The Government commissioned an independent review of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in late 2015 to assess the extent to which CIL does or can 
provide an effective mechanism for funding infrastructure, and to recommend 
changes that would improve its operation in support of the Government’s wider 
housing and growth objectives.  It has been widely recognised that CIL is over 
complicated and is not delivering the level of infrastructure which it was expected to. 
As part the CIL review, the independent review group submitted their report to 
Ministers in October 2016.  This Independent review report is set out as a supporting 
document to the HWP.  The report sets out a number of findings and 
recommendations. Given that a CIL Review has been expected for some time, it was 
expected at this stage that as part of the HWP the Government would have ratified 
which recommendations it is was accepting.  However the Government have simply 
added the report by the Independent review group as a supporting document to the 
HWP and not made any recommendations for the Review of CIL.   

The main recommendations of the report are to replace the CIL with a hybrid system 
of a broad and low level Local Infrastructure Tariff (LIT) and Section 106 for larger 
developments.  The main proposals set out in the Independent review report are 
summarised below: 

THE LOCAL INFRASTRUCTURE TARIFF (LIT)  

 the setting of the LIT should be linked to the Local Plan process wherever 
possible and should feed into local and ‘bigger than local’ infrastructure plans. 

 the LIT should be calculated using a national formula based on local market 
value set at a rate of £ per square metre and charged on gross development. 

 the LIT should continue to apply to ‘development’ as defined in the existing 
CIL regulations, further work by Government to devise a LIT formula for 
commercial development that ties it to the residential rate but which does not 
exceed it. 

 there should be a cost of collection cut-off below which local authorities do not 
have to collect a LIT. 

 the process for exemptions and reliefs should be simplified with no (or very 
few) exemptions to the LIT. 
 

LIT AND SECTION 106 

 small developments (10 units or less) should pay only the LIT and no other 
obligations, unless exceptional circumstances apply. 

Page 59



 

 
 

  for large/strategic developments local authorities should be able to negotiate 
additional and specific Section 106 arrangements. 

 the requirement for a Regulation 123 list should be removed and pooling 
restrictions set out in Regulation 123 should be removed.  

 for larger developments developers should be able to make infrastructure 
provision in kind; and if appropriate, the LIT contribution should be able to be 
delivered by way of in kind provision 

 further measures are introduced to standardise and streamline the Section 
106 process.  

  local authorities provide annual Infrastructure Delivery Plan updates as part 
of their 
Authorities’ Monitoring Reports 
 

Given the Government have not made recommendations in relation to the findings of 
the Independent Review of CIL, there will be uncertainty over the future of CIL until 
the Government sets out what its approach is. The City Council gave feedback as 
part of the CIL Review Panel Questionnaire, which undertook consultation in January 
2016. In terms of the recommendations an approach which simplifies CIL is 
supported given the complexities around the implementation, however until the 
details and mechanisms for this are set out it is difficult to comment on this.  

 

Page 60



 

 
 

EB Appendix 3: Covering letter to DCLG Secretary of State 

Page 61



 

 
 

 
  
 
 City Development 

 The Leonardo Building 
 2 Rossington Street 
 LEEDS 
 LS2 8HD 
 
 Contact:  
 Tel:  
  
 Email: 

   
 
 xx April 2017 
 
Dear Secretary of Sate 
 
Housing White Paper 

Overall, Central Government’s attempt to tackle a national issue, to “fix the broken 
market”, is broadly welcomed by the City Council.  The analysis presented in the 
Housing White Paper (HWP), of what is wrong with the market, is considered to be 
largely correct and reflects concerns that have been experienced in Leeds around an 
over-reliance on the volume sector and delivery of owner-occupied housing.  
However, unless more fundamental changes and interventions are proposed, the 
HWP reads as a series of palliative measures, rather than instigating the urgent step 
changes required. 

At a local level, the City Council has afforded a high priority to facilitating housing 
growth and delivery to meet a range of complex housing needs, now and in the 
future.  The main focus of this work is in the inner area, East Leeds and the City 
Centre; areas which has been slower to recover from recession and where the 
adopted Core Strategy, Site Allocations Plan and Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan 
focusses the majority of housing development.  This work has been focussed also 
through the Housing Breakthrough project and the work of the Housing Growth 
Board.  In February Executive Board considered a Breakthrough Project report on 
“Housing Growth and High Standards in all Sectors”, which detailed the Council’s 
pro-active and cross tenure approach to stimulating housing growth.  The Council 
established a cross Directorate housing growth team (working across planning, asset 
management, housing and regeneration) to stimulate delivery (e.g. the Private 
Sector Acceleration Programme has assisted in unblocking over 1,200 homes since 
2014, with a further 7,783 on the programme). 

In March, Executive Board also considered a report on developing mixed residential 
communities in the City Centre, which detailed implementation measures to 
stimulate the delivery of a specific Private Rented Sector housing model, where 
there is a potential supply of over 1,000 homes per annum.  Moreover, the Council 
has also been successful in attracting development interest for the delivery of new 

Secretary of State 
DCLG 
 
 

Page 62



 

 
 

private housing in the Seacroft, Halton Moor and Osmondthorpe areas of the City, by 
packaging its own land for sale to the market.   

A development agreement is now in place with Strata Homes and community 
regeneration specialist, Keepmoat which will secure the redevelopment of 13 sites 
delivering almost 1,000 new homes across these neighbourhoods.  Executive Board 
also endorsed the Council House Building Programme (with an initial programme of 
1,000 homes). 

These actions reflect the local imperative to deliver new homes, particularly on 
brownfield land for a range of needs and in a variety of tenures.  These efforts 
however need to be enhanced and accelerated by lasting structural changes and 
interventions focussed through the HWP, to urgently help stimulate the market, boost 
the supply of housing and to deliver the new homes which are needed in sustainable 
locations across the District. 
 
Notwithstanding the positive and strategic intent behind the HWP, the City Council 
considers that key opportunities have been missed to fundamentally address market 
failures, boost regeneration (including the reuse of brownfield land through more 
specific interventions) and to support housing growth in sustainable locations 
through new delivery models and investment in infrastructure.  Whilst the City 
Council has worked effectively and proactively with a range of partners and investors 
over several years (including Central Government), to deliver major regeneration and 
housing growth, these efforts are sometimes frustrated by the delivery models of the 
house building industry, viability issues, the tools and resources available to local 
authorities, or prevailing economic circumstances.  It is considered therefore that as 
it currently stands, the White Paper is unlike to achieve the step changes required 
unless more focussed requirements are introduced.  Consequently, there is a need 
for greater clarity and accountability and a more effective balance of both ‘sticks’ and 
‘carrots’ to boost delivery. 
 
The City Council’s detailed response was considered by Executive Board on 19th 
April and a copy of this (relating to the questions set out in the HWP, additional 
points and comments in relation to background papers and technical documents) is 
appended to this letter.  In summary the Council also wishes to reiterate the following 
key points: 
 

i) It is especially welcomed that the HWP maintains that local authorities need to 
identify (via their objectively assessed needs) a range of housing (types and 
tenures) to meet the aspirations of a wide range of communities.  However, 
the White Paper needs to be more explicit in the delivery of a range of 
housing solutions and delivery flexibility to plan and deliver the housing that 
local communities need. 

ii) The HWP needs to be more radical in its approach, for example, if local 
authorities were able to allocate sites for affordable housing – as local 
authorities currently do for Travellers or older people, this would have an 
enabling impact on the market.  This approach is likely to help reduce land 
values to enable Registered Providers to more readily acquire sites and to 
build.  This may have the effect of stimulating more house building at speed, 

Page 63



 

 
 

rather than land being reserved by volume house builders built out at low 
rates. 

iii) The Government rightly accepts that a reliance on the volume house building 
industry to deliver the right level of homes needed of the right type and in the 
right locations cannot be sustained.  However, the Government remains pre-
occupied with amendments to the planning system as a means of remedying 
delivery rather than fundamentally changing the structure and balance of the 
market or more directly challenging the responsibility and methods of the 
house building industry to make up for current shortfalls in housing.  

iv) The policy solutions advocated in the HWP appear to reflect a ‘one-size fits 
all’ approach or at best are focussed on tackling an overheated housing 
market in the south-east of England.  Consequently the City Council considers 
that greater recognition and differentiation needs to be made where local 
authorities such as Leeds are seeking to plan proactively for housing growth 
to suit local circumstances.  

v) The City Council considers that a ‘whole Government’ approach is necessary 
to deliver and unlock housing growth concurrent with necessary infrastructure 
in sustainable locations.  This is especially the case in relation to the delivery 
of major highways, rail and public transport infrastructure to support major 
growth, such as the East Leeds Extension (c7,000 homes in total). 

vi) The HWP does not go far enough to enable local authorities to determine 
local solutions to meeting housing need and delivery.  For example, more 
enabling freedoms for local authorities to access the Housing Revenue 
Account, so that the City Council itself can build at scale equivalent to its 
underlying HRA strength.  Without this the Council’s endeavours to tackle 
housing issues more fully will continue to be inhibited. 

vii) Whilst the City Council understands and appreciates the Government’s desire 
for more homes to be built more quickly, the HWP needs to state more 
explicitly that the environmental impact and overall sustainable development 
of new homes, are integral to the delivery of these objectives.  These 
considerations are especially important in a complex Metropolitan District 
such as Leeds, which has a distinctive settlement pattern, containing 
community areas, each with their own identity and with differing economic, 
social and environmental opportunities and challenges.  

The above summary and the detailed responses attached are intended to be 
constructive comments, aimed to help ‘fix the broken housing market’.  The 
City Council would welcome the opportunity to discuss these points further 
with Central Government and other key stakeholders to help resolve these 
critically important issues. 

 
Yours sincerely 
 

 

Page 64



 

 
 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

Report of Director of City Development 

Report to Development Plans Panel 

Date:  9th May 2017 

Subject: Leeds Local Development Scheme 2017 Update  

Are specific electoral Wards affected?  All   Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. This report is for Development Plan Panel to consider proposed updates to 
the Council’s Local Development Scheme (LDS) programme.  The LDS is a 
three year rolling project plan for how the Local Plan is to be prepared. 

2. The revisions proposed reflect the need to make adjustments to programme 
milestones and targets – taking into account the “rolling forward” of the LDS, 
public consultation and technical requirements.   

3. The revised LDS also incorporates some additional programme injections to 
reflect strategic policy issues (e.g. the Selective Review of the Core 
Strategy) and for the first time in the LDS, the progress of Neighbourhood 
Plans in Leeds.  Details on individual Development Plan Documents is also 
accompanied by information on Supplementary Planning Documents, so that 
plan users can gain a broader appreciation of the suite of planning 
documents which comprise the Council’s Local Plan.   

Recommendations 

4. Development Plan Panel is recommended to consider the contents of this 
paper and subject to any revisions, agree that it be placed on the Council’s 
web-site. 

 

 
Report author:  Martin Elliot  
Tel:  0113 37 87635  

Page 67

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek the consideration of Development Plan 
Panel for the Local Development Scheme (LDS) May 2017 prior to it being 
published on the Council’s web-site.  The LDS is a three year rolling project 
plan for how the Local Plan is to be prepared. 

1.2 The revisions proposed reflect the need to make adjustments to programme 
milestones and targets – taking into account the “rolling forward” of the LDS, 
public consultation and technical requirements.  The revised LDS also 
incorporates some additional programme injections to reflect strategic policy 
issues (e.g. the Selective Review of the Core Strategy) and for the first time, 
the progress of Neighbourhood Plans in Leeds.  The Development Plan 
Documents proposed are also supplemented by information on 
Supplementary Planning Documents so that plan users can gain a broader 
appreciation of the suite of planning documents which comprise the 
Council’s Local Plan.   

2 Background information 

2.1 The first LDS for Leeds came into effect in 2005 and this is the eighth 
revision to that document.  In the past the LDS was formally submitted to the 
Secretary of State.  Since 2012 the LDS needs to be placed on the 
Council’s web-site and updated to reflect changing circumstances.   

3 Main issues 

3.1 The LDS (Appendix 1) sets out a work programme for the Policy and Plans 
Group, which directly reflects the objectives of the Vision for Leeds and 
Corporate Plan.  As a package these areas of work give spatial planning 
expression and further land use clarity to the Council’s priorities.  In 
particular the Local Development Documents give spatial articulation to and 
help align Best Council Plan breakthrough projects and priorities, including: 

 Strong communities benefiting from a strong City 

 Supporting economic growth and access to employment opportunities 

 Early intervention and reducing health inequalities 

 Supporting communities and raising aspirations 

 Providing enough homes of a high standard in all sectors 

 Supporting children to have the best start in life 

 Cutting Carbon and Improving air quality 

 Helping deliver a well-connected transport system 

 Enhancing the quality of our public realm and green spaces 

3.2 Whilst good progress has been made across all areas of the LDS, it is 
necessary to amend and/or roll forward the timetable for Local Development 

Page 68



 
 
 

 

Documents due to a number of factors.  For the Site Allocations Plan (SAP), 
these include analysis of a high level of consultation responses received 
and a need for an additional round of consultation in the Outer North East 
area.  However, for the Aire Valley Area Action Plan (since it has been 
separated from the SAP) there has been swift progress through the 
Examination process.   

3.3 Specific areas of change in the LDS focus upon the selective review of the 
Core Strategy; to revise the Council’s housing requirement and incorporate 
a housing standards review.  The scope of the Core Strategy Review was 
agreed by Development Plan Panel on 22nd November 2016 and by the 
Council’s Executive Board on 8th February 2017. 

3.4 If monitoring of the Local Plan indicates the need to further adjust the LDS 
timetable or if there is a need to revise and/or prepare new planning 
documents in response to national planning policy or local circumstances, 
this will be announced on the council’s web site and the LDS will be 
adjusted accordingly.  As a consequence it is necessary to be flexible and 
response on the scope of planning documents and the implications of 
emerging policy areas.   

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 A DPD has statutory requirements for public consultation at key stages 
which will involve key consultees.  Technical work is carried out with the full 
engagement and involvement of other Directorates e.g. the SHMA is being 
prepared as a joint City Development / Environment and Housing 
commission.   

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 The preparation of LDDs will require Equality Impact Assessments at 
appropriate stages. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 The Local Plan and its DPDs form one of Leeds City Council’s main policy 
documents setting out vision, objectives, policy, allocations and targets for 
the future growth of Leeds particularly in terms of spatial planning.  The 
Local Plan helps articulate the spatial dimension of other council strategies 
and plans including ‘Vision for Leeds’ and the Best Council Plan, so it is 
important that it is kept up-to-date and subject to transparent project 
management processes and timetables. 

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.2 The Local Plan will require both staffing and technical resources to support 
the plan making process and evidence base work. However it is desirable 
that the Local Plan should be up-to-date in terms of a plan-led system which 

Page 69



 
 
 

 

ensures that the development decisions and investment in Leeds aligns with 
wider ambitions of the City Council, the Combined Authority and other 
agencies. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The Local Plan and DPD preparation will follow the statutory Development 
Plan process.  The Local Plan forms part of the budget and policy 
framework and is therefore not eligible for call-in. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 Risks are highlighted in Appendix 2 of Appendix 1. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 This report has provided an overview of changes to the revised Local 
Development Scheme (May 2017).  The detailed revisions are included in 
the LDS document attached as Appendix 1.  

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Development Plan Panel is recommended to consider the contents of this 
paper and subject to any revisions, agree that it be placed on the Council’s 
web-site. 

Page 70



 
 
 
 

 
 
Local Development Scheme 
Leeds Local Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
May 2017

Appendix 1 

Page 71



 2

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) and national planning policy place Local 
Plans at the heart of the planning system.  Local Plans set out a vision and a framework for 
the future development of an area, addressing needs and opportunities in relation to 
housing, the economy, community facilities and infrastructure – as well as safeguarding the 
environment, mining activities, dealing with waste, adapting to climate change and securing 
good design.  They also help guide decisions about individual development proposals, as 
Local Plans (together with any neighbourhood plans that have been made) form statutory 
Development Plan for Leeds and are the starting-point for considering whether applications 
can be approved.   

1.2 National planning policy sets clear expectations as to how a Local Plan must be developed 
in order to be justified, effective, consistent with national policy and positively prepared to 
deliver sustainable development that meets local needs and national priorities.  It is also 
essential that they are based on up to date and proportionate evidence and are kept up to 
date to respond to changing circumstances. 

1.3 A Local Development Scheme is required under section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011).  This must specify (among 
other matters) the documents which, when prepared, will comprise the Local Plan for the 
area.   

1.4 The first Local Development Scheme (LDS) for Leeds came into effect in 2005 and this is the 
eighth revision to that document.  This LDS is the first point of contact for anyone wishing to 
find out about which planning policy documents apply to Leeds, and their status.  The plan 
making process is complicated and can be forbidding to non-planners.  To that end, this LDS 
clearly sets out progress on the Local Plan alongside details of a wider set of documents and 
evidence base documents so that local communities and interested parties can keep track of 
progress and wider plan making context.  A glossary of terms is also provided at Appendix 
1.   

1.5 The LDS also sets out a three-year rolling programme on the timetable for preparing and 
reviewing these documents alongside other non-statutory documents.  If monitoring of the 
Local Plan indicates the need to further adjust the LDS timetable or if there is a need to 
revise and/or prepare new planning documents in response to national planning policy or 
local circumstances, this will be announced on the council’s web site and the LDS will be 
adjusted accordingly. 

1.6 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that local authorities establish 
policies relating to the development and use of land in their area in Local Development 
Documents.  Local Development Documents (LDD) include Development Plan Documents 
(which form part of the statutory development plan) and Supplementary Planning Documents 
(which do not form part of the statutory development plan).  LDDs collectively deliver the 
spatial planning strategy for the local planning authority's area. 

1.7 Development Plan Documents (DPDs) are prepared by local planning authorities and outline 
the key development goals of the Local Plan.  All DPDs are subject to rigorous procedures of 
community involvement, consultation and independent examination, and adopted after 

Page 72



 3

receipt of an inspector's binding report.  Once adopted, development management decisions 
must be made in accordance with them (and any other policies forming part of the 
development plan) unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

2 Local Development Documents 

2.1 Local Development Documents produced by the LPA collectively deliver the spatial planning 
strategy of the area and include the following documents: 

Development Plan Documents 

2.2 The Local Plan in Leeds is not a single ‘plan’ but the name given to a portfolio of documents 
(including Development Plan Documents (DPDs)).  This approach allows greater flexibility 
for local planning authorities to respond to changing circumstances, address local issues, 
strengthen community and stakeholder involvement in the planning process and achieve 
economic, environmental and social objectives, through the use of Sustainability Appraisals.  
A DPD forms part of the statutory development plan for Leeds. 

Supplementary Planning Documents 

2.3 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are also Local Development Documents but do 
not form part of the statutory development plan, but they do provide supplementary advice 
and guidance, which are material considerations in the determination of a planning 
application.  SPDs are not subject to independent testing; however they are subject to 
community involvement procedures.   

Statement of Community Involvement 

2.4 A Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) was adopted by the City Council in February 
2007.  This in turn sets out the processes by which the community will be engaged in 
consultation on each type of document and at every stage of its preparation.  The SCI also 
sets out how the community will engage in the consideration of major development 
management decisions.  The SCI will be reviewed during the Summer of 2017 to reflect 
updated regulations and guidance (including around the accessibility of documents and 
electronic means of communication). 

3 Other parts of the statutory Development Plan 

Neighbourhood Plans   

3.1 These offer local communities (via a Neighbourhood Forum or Parish Council) the 
opportunity to prepare locally specific policies in conformity with the Local Plan.  A 
neighbourhood plan attains the same legal status as the Local Plan once it has been agreed 
at a referendum and is ‘made’ by the local planning authority (i.e. brought into legal force 
following an independent Examination). 

4 Headline Programme of Local Development Documents 2017 - 2020 

Adopted Plans (part of the statutory development plan) 

Page 73



 4

 the Unitary Development Plan was Adopted in 2001 and the UDP Review in July 2006 
 the Core Strategy was Adopted in November 2014 and sets out the vision, spatial 

strategy and core policies for the spatial development of the local planning authority 
area.  It also lists Unitary Development Plan policies to be saved.   

 the Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan was Adopted in January 2013 (two 
remitted policies were subject to re-examination and Adopted in September 2015) 

 Clifford Neighbourhood Plan was made in March 2017 
 a Policies Map 2016 (showing extant UDP Policies, Core Strategy and Natural 

Resources and Waste Plan policies) 
Plans in Production  

 Local Plan - Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan identifies specific allocations of land 
for retail, housing, employment and green space for a specific regeneration area of the 
City 

 Local Plan - Site Allocations Plan identifies specific allocations of land for housing and  
employment and designations of retail centres and green space 

 Local Plan - Selective Review of the Core Strategy incorporating a revised objectively 
assessed need for housing, consequential amends to policies for affordable housing, 
local policies for Housing Standards and amendments to greenspace policy 

 Neighbourhood Plans  
 updates to the Policies Map taking account of the above 

 
5 Conformity and integration with other plans and strategies 

5.1 The Government sets out national planning policy in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). The Local Plan must have regard to the policies within the NPPF and guidance 
within the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).  The Housing White Paper 
(February 2017) has signalled a review of the NPPF.     

5.2 Leeds is the regional capital of Yorkshire and the Humber and the Leeds City Region.   The 
Metropolitan District has a unique character which features a distinctive settlement hierarchy, 
as well as significant areas of countryside.  This comprises of the Main Urban Area 
(including the City Centre), free standing major settlements, together with a series of smaller 
settlements and villages.  It has a diverse and growing population, with around 20% of the 
overall population from minority ethnic groups increasing to 50% in some communities. 

5.3 Within the Yorkshire and Humber region as a whole, notwithstanding the economic downturn 
(2008-2011) Leeds’ economic performance stands out with high economic growth and low 
unemployment.  Over the last twenty years, Leeds has created more jobs than any other 
major city outside London.  A key to the success of Leeds has been the strength and 
diversity of the local economy.  However, in supporting the District’s longer term prosperity 
and sustainability, there is no room for complacency and the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
point to increasing gaps in opportunities and 105 neighbourhoods are in the most deprived 
10% nationally.  Consequently, Leeds is an ambitious City, with programmes, plans and 
strategies for major regeneration and infrastructure investment, economic development and 
growth, environmental enhancement and improvements to public health and social inclusion.   
Through the Community Strategy (Vision for Leeds) and the City Council’s Best Council 
Plan, the focus of the City is to ensure that these priorities are delivered and make a lasting 

Page 74



 5

difference to communities now and in the future.     

5.4 Leeds is a major UK City and commercial centre which sits at the heart of a wider City 
Region economy and integral to the aspiration to establish the ‘Northern Powerhouse’.  The 
Leeds City Region contains 3 million people, a resident workforce of 1.5 million, 106,000 
businesses and an economy worth £53bn per year.  The Leeds City Region Partnership 
brings together eleven local authorities (see below) to ensure the city region economy 
continues to grow.  In order to effectively achieve this goal the Leeds City Region has a 
business-led board (LEP Board), to work alongside the Local Authority Leaders Board, in 
order to effectively address the city region's economic challenges.  The Local Development 
Documents of the City Council have regard to the plans and community strategies of its 
neighbouring authorities and those within the City Region as follows: 

 Barnsley  
 Bradford 
 Calderdale 
 City of York 
 Craven 
 Harrogate  
 Kirklees  
 Selby 
 North Yorkshire County Council  
 Wakefield 

 
5.5 A West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA), was formally established in April 2014 and a 

Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) agreed in July 2014.   Within this strategic context also new 
arrangements have been established, as a basis to meet the requirements of the ‘Duty to 
Cooperate’, set out in the Localism Act (2011).  This is especially important in the 
preparation of Development Plan Documents to ensure that both legal requirements and 
soundness tests are met.  A failure to meet these requirements will result in the significant 
delay (or even withdrawal) in the production of Development Plan Documents.  The most 
relevant programmes and policies of the City Region are as follows: 

 Leeds City Region Interim Strategy Statement (2011) which establishes that the 
individual local authority members of the LCR support the broad policy thrust of the 
former regional plan, including the principles of urban transformation 

 Strategic Economic Plan (2016) the Combined Authorities plan to transform the economy 
and create thousands of extra jobs over the next 20 years 

 West Yorkshire Transport Plan (2011) the 20 year vision for development and the 
transport infrastructure needed to support it in West Yorkshire 

 Draft LCR Infrastructure Investment Framework (2017) provides the strategic context 
that will inform the commissioning of a future infrastructure pipeline 

 
5.6 Local policy documents are also relevant to setting the context for the LDS and its Local 

Development Documents.  These include: 

 Vision for Leeds (Community Strategy) (2011-2030) aims to address current challenges 
and future opportunities with a vision to be the best city in the UK by 2030 

Page 75



 6

 Best Council Plan (2017-2020) sets out the priorities for service delivery.  The 
preparation of the Local Plan is identified as being integral to these priorities, including 
delivering sustainable and inclusive economic growth 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (2015) which is key to understanding health and 
wellbeing needs and inequalities across and within Leeds and is based on a partnership 
jointly led by the three Clinical Commissioning Groups and the City Council 

 
6 Planning context 

6.1 National guidance sets out that the Local Plan should make clear what is intended to happen 
in the area over the life of the plan, where and when this will occur and how it will be 
delivered.  Local Plans should be tailored to the needs of each area in terms of their strategy 
and the policies required.  The preparation of Local Plans is a continuous and iterative 
process, which legislation and statutory national guidance require includes: 

 An up to date evidence base - a number of surveys, technical studies and monitoring 
activities have previously been completed and are kept under review about the 
economic, social and environmental characteristics and prospects of the City.   

 Monitoring and review - an Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) reports on a number of 
areas, including: information on progress against a series of indicators, which aim to 
monitor the extent to which Development Plan policies are being achieved, and a 
commentary and progress update on how the City Council is performing against 
timescales and milestones set out in the Local Development Scheme. 

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule.  This was adopted by the 
Council on 12th November 2014 and operational from 9th April 2015.  It will be kept up to 
date and reflect outcomes of the Government proposals for CIL, set out in the Housing 
White Paper (2017) 

 Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal, in accordance with the 
Local Plan regulations and the European Directive 2001/42/EC.  These are tools to 
ensure that LDDs take into account environmental, economic and social issues as part of 
an integrated approach. For greater efficiency and effectiveness, the City Council intends 
to combine assessment and appraisal as part of one approach 

 
7  Project management and resources 

7.1  In reflecting the strategic aims of the Community Strategy (Vision for Leeds) and City 
Council corporate priorities identified in the Best Council Plan, resources will be drawn from 
across the City Council to prepare and implement the Local Plan.  Close working with a 
range of stakeholders and partners will also be an important feature of the preparation of the 
Local Plan.   This includes: Duty to Cooperate and Heads of Planning City Region groups, a 
developer forum, community committees, and neighbourhood planning support.  Subject to 
the availability of resources, the nature of technical work to be undertaken and the 
requirements of specific timetables, external consultancy support is also and will continue to 
be used to deliver key tasks and projects. 

7.2 The preparation of the Local Plan will be led by the City Council’s City Development 
Directorate, primarily through the Planning & Sustainable Development service.   Drawn from 
this service, a number of teams (comprising officers ranging from the Head of Service, a 

Page 76



 7

Group Leader, Team Leaders, Senior Planners, Planners and Administrative support staff) 
have responsibilities for the Local Plan. 

7.3 Given the scope and breadth of the Local Plan in Leeds (and in recognition of its corporate 
importance), Planning & Sustainable Development will be supported by resources from 
across City Development including: highways, regeneration and economic services as well 
as on going and close working with a range of City Council Directorates (Resources and 
Housing, Children & Families and Adults & Health) to reflect the scope of the Local Plan 
documents under production.  A feature of the Best Council Plan priority to deliver quality 
housing growth is the operation of a cross-service Housing Growth Team which supports the 
implementation and evidence base of the Local Plan in this specific area.   

7.4 A key focus for the preparation of the Local Plan is the Council Members Development Plan 
Panel, with responsibilities for making recommendations to the City Council’s Executive 
Board and Full Council (consistent with delegation arrangements and ‘Executive’ and 
‘Council’ functions). 

8 Risk Assessment 

8.1  The preparation of the Local Plan allows for a flexible approach to the preparation of a range 
of planning documents.  The Schedule of Local Development Documents identified in this 
Local Development Scheme, covers a range of work, which in part reflects the complex 
spatial planning issues in Leeds.  In managing this programme of work, an analysis of risks 
has been undertaken, together with the measures to manage them.  This is set out in 
Appendix 2.   

8.2 Priorities for the Government are to reduce red tape and save money, whilst promoting an 
effective and efficient planning system that stimulates investment, enterprise and community 
engagement.  In seeking to meet these objectives and the challenges and opportunities 
arising from Neighbourhood Planning, the City Council is keeping resource availability and 
management under review.   However, meeting demanding and on going budget reduction 
targets, remains an overall challenging for the City Council as a whole, in the delivery of 
strategic objectives and priorities, including the preparation of the Local Plan. 

8.3 Within this overall context, a number of changes to planning practice and delivery are likely 
to arise as a consequence of on going reforms to the planning system.  These include the 
Housing and Planning Act, Neighbourhood Planning Bill and Housing White Paper and 
technical changes to the implementation of planning (identified via the Technical 
Consultation on implementation of planning  

9 Neighbourhood Plans 

9.1 Neighbourhood planning is still a relatively new right for communities and gives them direct 
power to develop a shared vision for their neighbourhood and shape the development and 
growth of their local area.  Following the introduction of the Localism Act (2011) there has 
been a high level of interest in neighbourhood planning activities in Leeds.    

9.2 As at May 2017 the following Neighbourhood Areas have been designated.  It is difficult to 
ascertain the speed at which individual Neighbourhood Plans (NPs) will progress.  Where 

Page 77



 8

progress has moved beyond designation to the next regulatory stages this is noted below. 

Housing Market 
Characteristic 
Area 

Neighbourhood Area  
PC = Parish/Town 
Council  
F = Forum 

Progress (April 2017) 

Aireborough Aireborough (F) Early engagement, policy options being 
prepared 

Rawdon (PC) ‘Policy Intentions’ prepared 
Inner Beeston (F) Early engagement undertaken  

Headingley (F) ‘Policy intentions’ prepared 
Holbeck (F) Publication of Plan proposal by LPA 

May/June 2017 
Hyde Park (F) ‘Policy Intentions’ prepared 
Kirkstall (F) Early engagement summer 2017 
Little Woodhouse (F) Early engagement undertaken 
Seacroft (F) Designation 

North Adel (F) ‘Policy Intentions’ prepared 
Alwoodley (PC) Publication of Plan proposal by LPA 

Summer 2017 
Harewood (PC)  Publication of Plan proposal by LPA 

Summer 2017 
Headingley (F) Publication of Plan proposal by LPA 

Summer 2017 
Horsforth (PC) Draft Pre-Submission Plan prepared 
Kirkstall (F) (Small part of 
NA) 

Publication of Plan proposal by LPA 6 
Submission Summer 2017 

Outer North East Aberford & District (PC) Pre-Submission consultation expected 
summer/autumn 2017 

Bardsey-cum-Rigton (PC) Examination completed April 2017  
Barwick in Elmet and 
Scholes (PC) 

Examination commenced April 2017                         

Boston Spa (PC) Publication of Plan proposal by LPA 
April/May 2017 

Bramham-cum-
Oglethorpe (PC) 

Draft Pre-Submission prepared 

Clifford (PC) Plan ‘made’ March 2017 
Collingham (PC) Referendum Late April 2017 
East Keswick (PC) Submission summer 2017 
Harewood (PC) Designation 
Linton (PC) Subject to judicial review 
Scarcroft (PC) Draft Pre-Submission  
Shadwell (PC) Engagement undertaken 
Thorner (PC) Draft Pre-Submission  
Thorp Arch (PC) Publication of Plan proposal by LPA 

April/May 2017 
Walton (PC) Preparing Pre-Submission Draft 
Wetherby (PC) Pre-Submission Consultation March/April 

2017 
Outer North West Adel (F) Publication of Plan proposal by LPA 

Summer 2017 
Otley (PC) Pre-Submission consultation expected 

summer/autumn 2017 
Pool-in-Wharfedale (PC) Early engagement undertaken 

Outer South East Aberford & District (PC)  Pre-Submission Consultation March/April 
2017 

Garforth (F) ‘Policy Intentions’ prepared 
Kippax (PC) Publication of Plan proposal by LPA 

Page 78



 9

Summer 2017 
Outer West Kirkstall (F)  ‘Policy Intentions’ prepared 
Outer South West Beeston  ‘Policy Intentions’ prepared 
Outer South Carlton (F) Early engagement undertaken 

 

9.3 As at May 2017 the following plans have been made and form part of the Adopted Local 
Plan for Leeds: 

 Clifford (Mar 2017) 
 

10 Supplementary Planning Documents 

10.1 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD's) are part of the Local Plan and carry weight 
when the Council makes decisions on planning applications.  SPDs build and expand on 
existing policies in DPDs.  A list of adopted SPDs can be found on the Council’s web-site.   

10.2 The following SPDs are in preparation: 

 Hot Food Takeaways (due for public consultation Spring 2017) 
o sets out exclusion zone around secondary schools for Hot Food Takeaways 

 East Leeds Extension (due for public consultation Spring 2017) 
o guides development of over 5,000 new homes in three quadrants 

 South Bank Regeneration Framework (due for public consultation Spring 2017) 
o guides development of specific City Centre southern gateway which includes the 

location of the High Speed 2 station 
 Leeds Bradford International Airport (due for drafting during Summer 2017) 

o guides implementation of the employment hub and other uses at the airport 
 As appropriate, a programme of Development Planning Briefs for large scale site 

releases that require approval as SPD  
 
10.3 The following SPDs are at an early scoping stage and may progress during the three year 

period of this LDS:  

 Highways SPD (including a wider review of Section 106 contributions to highway 
schemes) 

 Affordable Housing (dependant on Selective Review of the Core Strategy) 
 
11 Evidence Base Documents 

11.1 The Development Plan and other documents will be supported by an evidence base 
consisting of research reports, technical papers and on-going studies.  In part, these will be 
prepared or commissioned by the council.  There will also be relevant research from other 
organisations, particularly the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, Statutory Bodies such as 
the Environment agency and Highways England.   

  

Page 79



 10

11.2 The research base will include, but is not limited to: 

Evidence Base Next Review 
Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA) 

Ongoing ‘call for sites’ and updates to take account of 
larger windfall.  Update Summer 2017.   

Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) 

In the process of being reviewed to take account of 
the latest 2014-based sub-national household 
projections and the outcomes of a household survey.  
This will underpin the Selective Review of the Core 
Strategy. 

Employment Land Assessment Rolling update.  Next Update 2018. 
Employment Land Review Potential for review in 2017/18 to take account of 

Growth Strategy 
Retail and Centres Assessment Potential for review following completion of key city 

centre retail schemes at Trinity and Victoria Gate 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Due to be reviewed once the Flood Alleviation 

Scheme has completed (est. 2018) 
Leeds Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation Assessment 

Selective review to take account of Playing Pitch 
Strategy (est. 2018) 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan  Live document periodically reviewed. 
Authority Monitoring Report  Next AMR Summer 2018 (to cover 2016/17 

monitoring period) 
Indices of Multiple Deprivation  Government data 
Sub-National Population and 
Household Projections 

2016-based projections due in 2018 

  

Page 80



 11

12 Local Development Document Profiles 

12.1 The following profiles update the Council’s LDDs as at 30th April 2017. 

TITLE  Core Strategy  
STATUS Adopted Development Plan Document 
ROLE AND 
CONTENT 

Sets out the overall spatial vision, strategy and core policies for the future 
development of Leeds between 2012 and 2028.   

COVERAGE  The Leeds Metropolitan District administrative area 
CONFORMITY The Core Strategy is in general conformity with the NPPF 
PRODUCTION 
MILESTONES 

Consultation on sustainability appraisal 
scoping report & preparation of Issues & 
Alternative Options for consultation  

September – December 2006 

Issues and Options Consultation October – December 2007 
Preferred Options Consultation  October – December 2009 
Publication  February – April 2012 
Pre-Submission Changes Advertisement  January – February 2013 
Submission  April 2013 
Pre-Examination Meeting  July 2013 
Examination  October 2013 (initial sessions) 

March 2013 (further sessions) 
Inspector’s Report  September 2014 
Adopted  November 2014 

PRODUCTION 
ACTIONS 

Lead Policy and Plans Service 
Management  Strategic Planning  
Resources Policy and Plans Service and additional 

officers throughout the Council.  
Database, mapping and graphic 
resources.  Advertising, consultation 
arrangements and Examination costs.   

Stakeholders / Community Involvement Statutory consultees and local 
community groups and organisations 
with an interest in the area as set out in 
the SCI 

POST 
PRODUCTION  

Following adoption, the Core Strategy has set the framework for the Council’s 
allocation DPDs (the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan and the Site Allocations 
Plan).  It provides a framework for development management decision taking and 
the preparation of SPDs.  It is regularly monitored via the AMR.  The Core Strategy 
is subject of a selective review (see separate profile).     

 
  

Page 81



 12

TITLE  Natural Resources and Waste Plan   
STATUS Adopted Development Plan Document 
ROLE AND 
CONTENT 

Provides thematic and site specific policies for Natural Resources and Waste in the 
District. 

COVERAGE  The Leeds Metropolitan District administrative area 
CONFORMITY The Natural Resources and Waste Plan is in general conformity with the Core 

Strategy and the NPPF 
PRODUCTION 
MILESTONES 

Consultation on sustainability appraisal 
scoping report & preparation of Issues & 
Alternative Options for consultation  

May – June 2008 

Issues and Options Consultation January – March 2010 
Preferred Options Consultation  November 2010 
Publication  July 2011 
  
Submission  July 2011 

Consultation on post submission 
changes May 2012 

Examination  November – December 2011 
 

Inspector’s Report  December 2012 
Adopted  January 2013 
Additional Note 
 

Following the results of a High Court 
Challenge in September 2013, Minerals 
Policies 13 and 14 were remitted and 
subject to re-consultation and re-
examination.  They were adopted 
alongside the remainder of the already 
Adopted DPD in September 2015. 

PRODUCTION 
ACTIONS 

Lead Policy and Plans Service 
Management  Strategic Planning  
Resources Policy and Plans Service and additional 

officers throughout the Council.  
Database, mapping and graphic 
resources.  Advertising, consultation 
arrangements and Examination costs.   

Stakeholders / Community Involvement Statutory consultees and local 
community groups and organisations 
with an interest in the area as set out in 
the SCI 

POST 
PRODUCTION  

Following adoption, the Core Strategy has set the framework for the Council’s 
allocation DPDs (the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan and the Site Allocations 
Plan).  It provides a framework for development management decision taking and 
the preparation of SPDs.  It is regularly monitored via the AMR.  The Core Strategy 
is subject of a selective review (see separate profile).     

 
  

Page 82



 13

TITLE  Policies Map   
STATUS Adopted and updated to spatially reflect DPDs and related notations 
ROLE AND 
CONTENT 

Illustrates the policies and proposals contained in the council’s DPDs. It identifies:  
 saved Unitary Development Plan allocations for housing, employment and 

greenspace 
 areas of protection, such as conservation areas and archaeological areas;  
 locations and sites for particular land uses, including regeneration areas, 

town centres and specific site proposals; strategic designations, such as 
opportunity areas and transport proposals; and  

 the road hierarchy 
COVERAGE  The Leeds Metropolitan District administrative area 
CONFORMITY The Policies Map is in general conformity with the saved policies of the Unitary 

Development Plan Review (2006), the Core Strategy and the Natural Resources 
and Waste Plan 

PRODUCTION 
MILESTONES 

The Policies Map is updated at the Adoption of relevant DPDs 

PRODUCTION 
ACTIONS 

Lead Policy and Plans Service 
Management  Strategic Planning  
Resources Policy and Plans Service and additional 

officers throughout the Council.  
Database, mapping and graphic 
resources.  Web-site maintenance 
costs.  Interactive mapping ICT costs.   

Stakeholders / Community Involvement Statutory consultees and local 
community groups and organisations 
with an interest in the area as set out in 
the SCI via DPD preparation 

POST 
PRODUCTION  

Following adoption of DPDs the Proposals Map is updated to spatially reflect the 
policies within them.  The Council is in the process of preparing an interactive on-
line mapping resource.   

 
  

Page 83



 14

TITLE  Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan 
STATUS Draft Development Plan Document 
ROLE AND 
CONTENT 

To provide an innovative and co-ordinated approach to the sustainable regeneration 
of the Aire Valley Leeds Area (which incorporates the Leeds City Region Enterprise 
Zone).  This will provide a framework for sustainable economic development, major 
new housing development, social and green infrastructure and sustainable transport 
solutions, and implement the Policy requirements of the Core Strategy.  The 
importance of the regeneration of the Aire Valley to the communities of East Leeds, 
South Leeds and the City Centre (including the South Bank) to be fully recognised 
including in securing improved connectivity and linkages and contributing to the 
regeneration objectives of the City Council and its partners. 

COVERAGE  The Aire Valley as defined in the Adopted Core Strategy and Policies Map and 
including the AVL Enterprise Zone.   

CONFORMITY The AVLAAP is in general conformity with the Adopted Core Strategy and the NPPF 
PRODUCTION 
MILESTONES 

Initial issues report and sustainability 
scoping report 

July 2005 

Issues and options consultation on 
sustainability appraisal scoping report 

August – October 2005 

Consultation on alternative options  June - July 2006 
Formal pre-submission consultation on 
Preferred Options report, sustainability 
appraisal and publication of Consultation 
Statement 

June – July 2007 

Publication   September – November 2015 
Submission  September 2016 
Pre-Examination Meeting  None  
Examination (Hearing Sessions) January 2017 
Advertisement of Main Modifications  May 2017 
Inspector Report  Estimated June/July 2017 
Adoption  Estimated September 2017  

PRODUCTION 
ACTIONS 

Lead Policy and Plans Service 
Management  Strategic Planning  
Resources Policy and Plans Service and additional 

officers throughout the Council.  
Database, mapping and graphic 
resources.  Advertising, consultation 
arrangements and Examination costs.   

Stakeholders / Community Involvement Statutory consultees and local 
community groups and organisations 
with an interest in the area as set out in 
the SCI 

POST 
PRODUCTION  

Following adoption, the AVLAAP will be published with other LDDs as part of the 
council’s Local Plan and the Policies Map will be updated to spatially reflect its 
policies and allocations.  It will be made available electronically on the council’s 
website.  It will be implemented through planning decisions on planning applications 
and in terms of additional planning briefs, masterplans and SPDs as necessary for 
specifc sites and areas e.g. the South Bank Regeneration Framework SPD.   

Page 84



 15

TITLE  Site Allocations Plan 
STATUS Draft Development Plan Document 
ROLE AND 
CONTENT 

To identify site allocations (covering housing, employment, retail and greenspace) 
to reflect the overall strategy of the Core Strategy. 
 

COVERAGE  The Leeds MD (divided into 11 Housing Market Characteristic Areas (HMCA) for the 
purposes of the allocations of housing).  Excluding the area covered by the 
AVLAAP. 

CONFORMITY The SAP will be in general conformity with the Adopted Core Strategy and the 
NPPF 

PRODUCTION 
MILESTONES 

Issues and options consultation  June – July 2013 
Publication   September – November 2015 
Publication of revised proposals for the 
Outer North East HMCA  

September – November 2016 

Pre-Submission Changes Advertisement February 2017 
Submission   May 2017 
Pre-Examination Meeting  Estimated September 2017 
Examination  Estimated October 2017 
Inspector Report  Estimated Early 2018 
Adoption  Estimated Early 2018  

PRODUCTION 
ACTIONS 

Lead Policy and Plans Service 
Management  Strategic Planning  
Resources Policy and Plans Service and additional 

officers throughout the Council.  
Database, mapping and graphic 
resources.  Advertising, consultation 
arrangements and Examination costs.   

Stakeholders / Community Involvement Statutory consultees and local 
community groups and organisations 
with an interest in the area as set out in 
the SCI 

POST 
PRODUCTION  

Following adoption, the Site Allocations Plan will be published with other DPDs as 
part of the council’s Local Plan and the Policies Map will be updated to spatially 
reflect its policies and allocations.  It will be made available electronically on the 
council’s website.   It will be implemented through planning decisions on planning 
applications and in terms of additional planning briefs, masterplans and SPDs as 
necessary for specifc sites and areas.  .   

 
 
 

  

Page 85



 16

TITLE  Core Strategy Selective Review 
STATUS Draft Development Plan Document 
ROLE AND 
CONTENT 

Updates the housing requirement in Policy SP6, considering and making any 
necessary consequent revisions to other parts of the Plan.  Extends the plan period 
from 2017 to 2033.  Updates the wording for Policies EN1 and EN2.  Updates 
Affordable Housing Policy H5.  Amends Greenspace Policy G4.  Introduces policies 
on Housing Standards.  Responds to policy implementation issues.     

COVERAGE  The Leeds Metropolitan District administrative area 
CONFORMITY The Adopted Core Strategy and the NPPF 
PRODUCTION 
MILESTONES 

Consultation on sustainability appraisal 
scoping report & preparation of Issues & 
Alternative Options for consultation  

Estimated May 2017 

Publication  Estimated Dec 2017 
Submission  Estimated Summer 2018 
Examination  Estimated Autumn 2018 
Adoption Estimated Winter 2018 

PRODUCTION 
ACTIONS 

Lead Policy and Plans Service 
Management  Strategic Planning  
Resources Policy and Plans Service and additional 

officers throughout the Council.  
Consultancy support.  Database, 
mapping and graphic resources.  
Advertising, consultation arrangements 
and Examination costs.   

Stakeholders / Community Involvement Statutory consultees and local 
community groups and organisations 
with an interest in the area as set out in 
the SCI 

POST 
PRODUCTION  

Following adoption, the Core Strategy Selective Review will be incorporated into the 
Adopted Core Strategy replacing specific policies as necessary.   

 

Page 86



 17

Appendix 1: Glossary of Terms 
 
Area Action Plan (AAP) These plans are DPDs and focus upon allocation and 

implementation, providing an important mechanism for ensuring 
development of an appropriate, scale, mix and quality for key areas 
of opportunity, change or conservation. 

Authority Monitoring Report 
(AMR) 

Authorities are required to produce AMRs to assess the 
implementation of LDS and the extent to which policies in LDDs 
are being achieved. 

Development Plan 
Document (DPD) 
           

The Documents that together comprise the Local Plan. A local 
planning authority must prepare, and which have to be subject to 
rigorous procedures of community involvement, consultation and 
independent examination. Should include the following elements: 
 Core strategy 
 Site specific allocations of land 
 Area Action Plans (where needed) 

Local Plan          The Local Plan will contain a portfolio of DPDs, which will provide 
the local planning authority’s policies for meeting the community’s 
economic, environmental and social aims for the future of their area 
where this affects the development of land. 

Local Development 
Document (LDD) 

            

LDDs will compromise of DPDs, SPDs and SCI related to these 
are the SEA/SA, AMR and the Policies Map. 

Local Development Scheme 
(LDS) 
            

The LDS sets out the programme for preparing the LDDs and 
identifies which of those will be prepared as DPDs. 

National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF)        

Government statement of National Planning Policy, and extant 
Planning Policy Statements. 

Neighbourhood Plan Prepared by Parish Councils or Neighbourhood Forums to set out 
local policies consistent with the Local Plan 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Appraisal of the environmental, economic and social aspects of 
Local Development Documents (LDDs) in contributing to the 
achievement of Sustainable Development objectives. 

Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) 

An LDD explaining to stakeholders and the community, how and 
when they will be involved in the preparation of Local Plan and 
where appropriate planning applications prior to their formal 
submission and the steps that will be taken to facilitate this 
involvement. 

Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) 

Assessment of the environmental impacts of polices and proposals 
contained within the Local Plan (can be done as part of the SA). 

Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) 

SPDs are LDDs intended to elaborate upon the policy and 
proposals in DPDs.  They do not form part of the statutory 
development plan. 

 
  

Page 87



 18

Appendix 2 – Risk Assessment 
 

RISK IMPACT MITIGATING ACTION 
New national and local 
policies and guidance  

 Unforeseen additional work 
injections into LDS work 
programme causing 
slippage. 

 Monitoring of changes to national 
policy. 

 Active participation in the City Region 
(to reflect the ‘duty to cooperate’) and 
local planning agenda to respond to 
changes early. 

 Re-evaluate priorities. 
Volume of work (managing 
potentially competing 
timescales and tasks, 
higher levels of 
representations than 
anticipated)  

 Programme slippage.  Monitoring of progress against 
programme objectives and re-prioritise 
as necessary. 

 Realistic & flexible timetables. 
 Use of additional resources through 

corporate partnership working. 
A very large volume of 
comments received at 
consultation stages  

 Require more staff to input 
and analyse responses 

 Lengthy Examination in 
Public 

 Regular monitoring of resources, 
budgets and costings. 

 Redeploy existing resources where 
appropriate. 

Capacity of Stakeholders 
to respond as part of 
engagement/involvement 
activity. 

 Potential programme 
slippage. 

 Early consultation with stakeholders 
where appropriate. 

Inadequate resources to 
undertake specific areas 
of work. 

 Unable to progress work. 
 Potential impact on quality 

& ‘soundness’ of planning 
documents. 

 Regular monitoring of resources, 
budgets and costings. 

 Redeploy existing resources where 
appropriate. 

Lack of in house skills to 
undertake new areas of 
technical work. 

 Programme slippage. 
 Potential impact on quality 

& ‘soundness’ of planning 
documents. 

 Develop skills and competencies 
through training initiatives. 

 Close working with partners who have 
the necessary skills. 

 Use of external consultants – subject 
to resources. 

Staff turnover  Potential programme 
slippage. 

 Monitoring of progress against 
programme objectives and re-prioritise 
as necessary. 

 Staff Recruitment  
Planning Inspectorate 
unable to meet the 
timescale for examination 
and report. 

 Delay to 
examination/reporting. 

 Key programme milestones 
not met. 

 Close liaison with the Planning 
Inspectorate, to highlight any potential 
issues/problems at an early stage. 

Failure of planning 
documents to meet tests 
of soundness. 

 Unable to adopt document. 
 Absence of up to date 

Local Plan triggers 
Presumption in Favour of 

 Ensure documents are sound and 
meet technical and consultation 
requirements 

 Use of self assessment tool. 

Page 88



 19

Sustainable Development 
in NPPF 

Legal Challenge  LDD quashed. 
 Impact on work programme 

through additional work. 

 Ensure LDF is compliant with Planning 
legislation, Regulations and guidance. 

 
 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	7 Housing White Paper - Department of Communities & Local Government (DCLG)
	8 Leeds Local Development Scheme 2017 Update
	Local Development Scheme - Appendix 1 25 04 17


